

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

# Understanding the Predictive Value of Personality Traits and Executive Functioning in Emotional Intelligence

Isa C. Wright Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Clinical Psychology Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Isa Wright

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Matthew Fearrington, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Brandy Benson, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty Dr. James Shaw, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2021

Abstract

Understanding the Predictive Value of Personality Traits and Executive Functioning in

Emotional Intelligence

by

Isa Wright

MA, Walden University, 2016

BS, University of Phoenix, 2014

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Clinical Psychology

Walden University

November 2021

Abstract

The concept of Emotional Intelligence (EI) identifies numerous areas within life that are impacted by the development of higher EI, including school performance, work performance, parenting, relationship patterns, and more. The implications of EI appear to be far reaching, yet the understanding of how EI develops in an individual continues to be vague and unclear. The purpose of this quantitative study was to account for the roles that personality factors and executive functions play in EI. By incorporating personality trait theory and executive function theory, a survey was designed and disseminated online resulting in 89 completed surveys of participants between the age of 25-65 years. A multiple linear regression was run to understand the relationship between personality factors and executive function with EI. Results showed that emotional regulation, openness, extraversion, conscientiousness, neuroticism, agreeableness, self-management to time, organization/problem-solving, motivation, and self-restraint account for 32.4 % of the variance in EI with an adjusted  $R^2$  of 23.9%. The model, as a whole, was able to significantly predict EI. Understanding the possible antecedents to the development of EI may help to support positive social change in various aspects of individual's lives, from school to work, by helping individuals increase problem-solving, decision-making, and attention skills that are core to EI. These factors are important and have been shown to positively impact productivity in school and work and may contribute to upward social mobility.

Understanding the Predictive Value of Personality Traits and Executive Functioning in

Emotional Intelligence

by

Isa Wright

MA, Walden University, 2016

BS, University of Phoenix, 2014

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Clinical Psychology

Walden University

November 2021

#### Dedication

To my family who have continually shown me support and encouragement throughout my doctoral journey. To my husband, Tom, who picked up slack when I thought I had nothing left to give. You never gave up for me.

To my mother, Marybeth, whose continued love of knowledge has made my love for learning never end. You asking questions helped me more than you will ever know.

To my incredible boys, Dylan, and Kaleb, you are my inspiration. The unyielding love you have always given, even though the sacrifices I have asked in time and expectations, filled my cup when I needed it most. I hope you both find the passion to always reach for what you want in life.

To my friends, Jennifer, Chad, and Steve, who are truly family. The almost done has finally come to fruition and I could not have done it without all your love and encouragement.

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge my family and friends. A special thank you to my husband, Tom, for the continual reminder that the social events and missed moments were leading to a greater outcome for us all. To my friends, who stayed my friends even when I never saw them. Your patience and understanding, your love and your laughter, made the doctoral process worthwhile. And to my boys, thank you for always believing in me. You are my heroes!!

I would also like to acknowledge my classmates, Val, Jonathon, Jessica, Jennifer, and Chris, who have experienced the struggles alongside myself. The doctoral process is one like no other, and having you by my side, in person and by phone, will always be treasured.

To my site supervisors, Dr Katen and Dr. Young, whose passion of psychology was present in every moment. Your knowledge, guidance, and support helped me to gain a sense of professional identity in a field I look forward to being in every day I wake up. To Dr. Young and Dr. Weir, a special thanks for taking me on for the postdoctoral journey and always being there for my questions.

Finally, a special thank you to my chair, Dr. Fearrington, for easing my uncertainties and helping me push through the dissertation process. I had a goal in mind, and you helped me stay on track through the whole process.

List of Tablesv
List of Figures vi
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Introduction1
Background1
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study
Research Question and Hypotheses
Trait Theory and the Theory of Executive Function4
Nature of the Study6
Definitions6
Assumptions
Scope and Delimitations
Limitations9
Significance
Summary11
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Introduction12
Literature Search Strategy12
Theoretical Foundation
Trait Theory

### Table of Contents

Theory of Executive Function	17
Personality Traits	20
Five-Factor Model	20
Personality and Emotional Intelligence	21
History of Intelligence Theories	24
Psychometric Movements Role in Theories of Intelligence	25
Models of Intelligence	
Emotional Intelligence	28
Mayer and Salovey's Mental Ability Model of Emotional Intelligence	
Goleman's Mixed Model of Emotional Intelligence	32
Bar-On's Emotional Quotient Inventory	33
Petrides Model of Trait Emotional Intelligence	34
Executive Functioning	35
Executive Functioning and Emotional Intelligence	37
Summary	39
Chapter 3: Research Method	40
Introduction	40
Research Design and Rationale	40
Methodology	41
Population	41
Research Procedures	42
Instrumentations	43

Emotional Intelligence Scale	
Big Five Inventory-10	
Barkley Deficits in Executive Functioning Scale (BDEFS)	
Data Analysis	47
Research Question and Hypotheses	48
Threats to Validity	49
Ethical Considerations	49
Summary	50
Chapter 4: Results	52
Introduction	52
Data Collection	52
Data Analysis Procedures	53
Results of the Study	54
Demographics	54
Descriptive Statistics of Study Variables	55
Statistical Model Assumptions	56
Regression Model Results	67
Summary	70
Chapter 5: Discussions, Conclusions, and Recommendations	71
Introduction	71
Interpretation of the Findings	72
Implications	74

Limitations of the Study	
Recommendations	
Social Change	
Conclusion	77
References	

## List of Tables

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics for Sample Demographics	54
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics for Study Indices	56
Table 3. Residual Statistics	57
Table 4. Measure of Collinearity	58
Table 5. Model Summary	67
Table 6. ANOVA	68
Table 7. Summary of Regression Analysis	69
Table 8. Prediction of EI (K Matrix)	70

## List of Figures

Figure 1. Scatterplot of Linearity of Dependent and Independent Variables
Figure 2. Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable of Extraversion60
Figure 3. Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable of Agreeableness60
Figure 4. Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable of Conscientiousness
Figure 5. Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable of Neuroticism61
Figure 6. Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable of Openness
Figure 7. Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable of Self-Management to
Time62
Figure 8. Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable of Organization/Problem-
Solving63
Figure 9. Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable of Self-Restraint63
Figure 10. Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable of Emotional
Regulation64
Figure 11. Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable of Motivation64
Figure 12. Normality of Residuals Histogram and P-Plot

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

#### Introduction

Intelligence has captivated the realm of psychology for years, supporting the incredible advancements in the understanding of intelligence. In conjunction with these advancements has come a plethora of information regarding differences in cognition, perception, attention, emotions, and so forth. Emotional intelligence (EI) emerged within the literature to capture the wide array of individual differences within these constructs (Hughes et al., 2018). However, EI researchers quickly diversified their approach creating many substantively different definitions and measures. Diversification within the research has led to a lack of meaningful theoretical advancements and the commercialization of EI measures has further exacerbated the inconsistencies in terminology, measurement, and empirical findings (Locke, 2005; Zeidner et al., 2008).

In Chapter 1, I address the background related to the development of EI and the outcomes measured by EI. More specifically, the chapter identifies information on how EI impacts various aspects of life and how important it is to gain a better understanding of how EI may develop to support optimal development of EI with a particular focus on the factors of personality traits and executive function. Lastly, the nature of the study, assumptions of the study and limitations, scope, and delimitations will also be addressed.

#### Background

Antecedents of EI development are largely unexplored; however, there is evidence that temperament is a predictive factor in the development of EI (Petrides et al., 2016). Gardner et al. (2011) further suggest that temperament, and not environmental factors, is more predictive of trait EI. However, Costa et al. (2018), indicate that parental interactions may be a strong predictor of adolescent EI. Similar results were found in a study conducted by Cindea (2015). The studies indicate there remains some lack of clarity within the literature on what leads to the development on EI.

Another antecedent and integrated aspect of EI is personality factors (Pertrides et al., 2016). However, the overlap between personality factors and EI factors requires enhanced understanding of the relationship (Hughes & Evans, 2018). Di Fabio and Saklofsmotike (2018) suggested that replication studies can examine the effectiveness of including both EI and personality factors in programs intended to enhance resiliency and within larger and other populations to confirm findings.

Further, Hughes and Evans (2018) explain a need to explore the relationship between emotional regulation, captured as executive functioning, and the factors of EI, indicating the definition of EI had become so broad that almost any intrapersonal, interpersonal, or emotional regulation behavior would classify within the meaning. Concerned with a lack of understanding within the literature regarding EI, they suggest ed the need for further exploration of antecedents to the development of EI.

#### **Problem Statement**

EI has been consistently identified as a predictor for various outcomes in physical and psychological health (Fernandez-Abascal & Martın-Dıaz, 2015), psychopathology (Davis & Humphrey, 2012; Mikolajczak et al., 2009), academic performance (Di Fabio & Saklofsmotike, 2018), and prosocial and antisocial behaviors (Gugliandolo et al., 2015; Petrides et al., 2006). Thus, EI plays a pivotal role in the different outcomes of health, mental health, performance, and behaviors. The current understanding of the research supports the notion that EI is a fundamental part of success in different aspects of life. However, less is known about the antecedents to EI, suggesting further research is needed.

Emotions carry a distinctive influence on the processes needed to make meaningful decisions and problem solve. According to Hughes and Evans (2018), the relationship between emotions, intelligence, and emotional regulation needs to be better understood. There are discrepancies among the different models of EI that must be further researched to define what is and is not EI. Accordingly, they suggested that future researchers adopt a more specific approach measuring theoretically relevant abilities, personality traits (or facets), and regulation strategies (Hughes & Evans, 2018). The lack of clarity within the models of EI has led some to use caution surrounding such constructs, leading to the need for clear and concise definitions that may provide more precise boundaries for each related construct.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the relationship between personality factors and executive functioning when measuring the variance in EI. This study explored how each specific domain of personality, (extroversion, agreeableness, openness to experience, conscientiousness, and neuroticism) and the different components of executive function (self-management to time, self-organization/problemsolving, self-discipline/inhibition, self-motivation, concentration/attention, and selfactivation/initiation) relate to the variance in EI. By doing this investigation, I provided some needed clarity within the literature to bridge the gap within the emergent theories of EI. A more precise delineation between the intersections of cognitive ability, personality traits, and competency-based emotion regulation will better support the theory of EI as opposed to dividing these concepts into separate models.

#### **Research Question and Hypotheses**

In this study, the relationship between the big five personality traits and components of executive functioning were measured against levels of EI. This was done by measuring personality traits and executive functions of adults in correlation with their EI. The assumption is that personality traits and executive functions can predict EI.

Research Question 1: What is the relationship between the personality traits of openness, agreeableness, extroversion, conscientiousness, and neuroticism and the executive functions of self-management to time, self-organization/problem-solving, self-discipline/inhibition, self-motivation, concentration/attention, and self-activation/initiation to predict the total variance of EI?

 $H_1$ 1: There is a relationship between personality traits and executive function in the variance of EI.

 $H_0$ 1: There will be no relationship between personality traits and executive function in the variance of EI.

#### Trait Theory and the Theory of Executive Function

The theories used for this study are trait theory and the theory of executive function. Trait theory posits that each individual is derived of specific combination of traits that create their pattern of thinking, feeling, and behaving (DeYoung, 2015). The integration of personality traits within EI is best understood through the exploration and understanding of the different theoretical constructs of personality. Specifically, trait theory seeks to assess the distinctive personality characteristics as a means of predicting how individuals will act in different situations.

Overall, traits will influence not only immediate behavior but the environmental experiences which impact development over the lifespan. Van der Linden (2017) found that traits may be switched on or off dependent upon a situation. Trait theory has been shown to have a relationship within the domain of EI, and a subsequent theory of Trait EI has emerged from these studies (Petrides, 2007). However, the relationship between personality traits and EI, although defined by Petrides (2007), contributes to the unclear delineation between the two constructs. Therefore, I felt that the inclusion of trait theory supports the understanding of the relationship between personality traits and EI, including whether personality traits predict EI development.

Executive functioning (EF) is a theoretical construct representing a domain of cognitive processes that regulate, control, and manage other cognitive functions (Barkley, 2012). Wade et al. (2018) found robust evidence from cross-sectionally and longitudinally derived sources that EF may have a directional relationship with components of theory of mind. More specifically, this directional relationship appears to impact aspects of how individuals can moderate their affect to understand those around them. Applying the theory of executive function within the study supported a clearer path towards understanding important variables which impact the development of EI.

#### Nature of the Study

The study used quantitative measures to elicit the potential relationships between these different variables. A multiple regression analysis was conducted to evaluate the prediction of personality traits and executive functions in the variance of EI. The dependent variable was the variance in EI, and the independent variables were the various personality traits (extroversion, agreeableness, openness to experience, conscientiousness, and neuroticism) and executive functions (self-management to time, self-organization/problem-solving, self-discipline/inhibition, self-motivation, concentration/attention, and self-activation/initiation).

#### Definitions

*Agreeableness:* personality trait that focuses on being cooperative, trustworthy, and good-natured, ranging from critical and uncooperative to helpful, trusting, and empathetic (Costa & McCrae, 1992).

*Behavioral Inhibition:* individuals inhibit prepotent responses or stop an ongoing response to control interference (Barkley, 1997).

*Conscientiousness:* personality trait may range from being impulsive, careless, and disorganized to hardworking, dependable, and organized, focusing mainly on competence, self-discipline, and thoughtfulness (Costa & McCrae, 1992).

*Emotional Intelligence:* a set of skills hypothesized to contribute to the accurate appraisal and expression of emotion in oneself and others, the effective regulation of emotion in self and others, and the use of feelings to motivate, plan, and achieve in one's life. (Mayer & Salovey, 1990)

*Executive Function:* self-directed actions needed to choose goals and to create, enact, and sustain actions toward those goals, or more simply as self-regulation (SR) to achieve goals (Barkley, 2012).

*Extraversion:* personality trait that focuses on emotional expression which may range from being quiet and reserved to outgoing and adventuresome (Costa & McCrae, 1992).

*Internalization of Speech:* the ability for an individual to develop reflective and moral reasoning based on rule-governed behaviors and to mentally shift one's behavior based on these cognitive understandings of metarules (Barkley, 1997).

*Neuroticism:* personality trait that focuses on the tendency toward unstable emotions, ranging from those who are calm and even-tempered to those who are anxious, unhappy, and prone to negative emotions (Costa & McCrae, 1992).

*Openness:* trait of openness may range from being practical and routine-oriented to curious and independent, focusing mainly on imagination, feelings, actions, and ideas (Costa & McCrae, 1992).

*Personality Trait:* traits that supports the idea of a person's unique patterns of thinking, feeling, and behaving (DeYoung, 2015).

*Self-Management:* monitoring the self for goal-directed persistence (Barkley, 1997).

*Self-Regulation:* focuses on emotional self-control to regulate motivation and arousal to achieve goal-directed behavior (Barkley, 1997).

*Working Memory:* allows individuals to attend to needed information to maintain a stream of thought (Barkley, 1997).

#### Assumptions

There are several assumptions regarding the study. First, I assumed the participants were honest when completing the self-assessment. Second, it is assumed the measures chosen were an accurate portrayal of the variables desired to be captured within the study. Also, I assumed that the participant who participated in the study provided a normally distributed sample of the general public thus providing a broad range of levels of EI, differing personality traits, and executive functioning to support the examination of the relationship between the variables.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

The scope of the study included adults between the ages of 25- and 65-years-old. The target age range was decided based on developmental trajectories over a lifespan based on periods of cognitive growth. According to Berk (2010), early adulthood is a time when this growth begins to shift towards advanced experience-dependent growth around the ages of 25 - 40 years. This growth will eventually begin to flatten in late adulthood around the age of 65 years (Berk, 2010). The responses from the participants are expected to provide a better understanding of possible predictors of EI through the analysis of their level of EI, personality characteristics, and areas of possible dysfunction within their executive functions.

#### Limitations

There are anticipated limitations for the study. Although there is an assumption that participants provided an accurate and truthful portrayal of themselves when completing the self-report surveys, it cannot be guaranteed. Self-report bias is a limitation to the study based on the nature of the survey questions. Further, this study was limited by the convenience sampling strategy selected. The participants volunteered for this study; there was no way to ensure the sample represented the general public, and therefore the results may not be generalizable. Further, the limitation inherent within correlational studies leads to the inability to assume causation. This study does not indicate whether personality traits or executive functions cause changes in EI development.

#### Significance

More recently, there has been growing interest in how EI interacts with a person's ability to navigate their day-to-day experiences, from the role of EI in cognition to affect-related issues (Costa et al., 2018). EI is a relatively new concept in the field of psychology and deals mainly with the idea of identifying, managing, and showing empathy for the feelings of others (Salovey & Mayer, 1990). Different theoretical models of EI indicate aspects of emotional regulation and personality traits that may influence emotions but also impact motivation, impulse control, persistence, delayed gratification, adaptability, optimism, and hope (Salovey & Mayer, 1990).

Understanding the potential developmental origins of EI could provide essential suggestions on the promotion of an important protective factor for a wide range of

social/emotional outcomes. For example, EI was shown to be a protective factor for victims of school violence (Estevez et al., 2019). Moreover, those who were identified as the aggressors of school violence scored significantly lower in EI than their peers (Estévez et al., 2019). These results could lead to effective educational or preventive interventions designed to increase EI in adults, which may have implications on prosocial and antisocial behaviors, aggression, resiliency, violence in the home, and ultimately upward social mobility.

According to Salovey and Mayer (1990), EI is a set of skills that fosters a deeper understanding of self and others and increases one's capacity for problem-solving and cognition. EI can foster a greater sense of how an individual's own emotions can guide or derail themselves, and thus individuals can become better equipped to navigate the complexities of other relationships and their own resiliency (Di Fabio & Saklofsmotike, 2018). This study has added to the existing literature on the relationship between the variances of EI constructs, including personality traits and emotional regulation (identified through the executive functions). The understanding can support enhanced programming for a multitude of outcomes based on an individual's ability to effectively regulate emotions and attend to necessary stimuli in their environment.

Understanding the potential developmental origins of EI could provide essential suggestions on the promotion of an important protective factor for a wide range of affect-related outcomes, leading to potential important social changes. According to Mayer, Salovey, and Caruso (2008), different domains of EI influence emotions but also impact motivation, impulse control, persistence, delayed gratification, adaptability, optimism,

and hope. These factors all have important roles in supporting a person's success within society, whether it is within family, relationships, school, or work (Costa et al., 2018; Cindea, 2015; Di Fabio & Saklofsmotike, 2018; Estevez et al., 2019).

#### **Summary**

Since the emergence of EI in the literature, there has been increasingly more information suggesting the importance of EI within differing areas of life. Therefore, an essential area of study is also understanding what impacts EI. The recognition of factors that may contribute to the development of increased EI in individuals may have implications across aspects of work, school, relationships, and more. The purpose of this quantitative cross-sectional correlational study was to determine whether factors of personality traits and executive functioning predict levels of EI in adults. Chapter 2 will include the theoretical frameworks used to support the study and an in-depth analysis of the literature regarding personality traits, executive functions, and the known relationships between these components.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

#### Introduction

There are discrepancies among the different models of EI that must be further researched to define what is and is not EI. Accordingly, it is suggested that future researchers adopt a more specific approach measuring theoretically relevant abilities, personality traits (or facets), and regulation strategies (Hughes & Evans, 2018). The lack of clarity within the models of EI has led some to use caution surrounding such constructs, leading to the need for clear and concise definitions that may provide more precise boundaries for each related construct. Understanding the theoretical construct of EI involves a review of literature that will draw from past intelligence movements. This is mainly because the construct of EI is based on the notion that it represents a different type of intelligence (Mayer & Salovey, 1997). A further review of literature on concepts of personality traits and the domain of executive functioning will give more understanding of EI constructs.

This chapter includes a discussion of the search strategies used to review the literature of EI, personality traits, and executive functioning and the relationships between these constructs. Trait theory and the theory of executive functioning are used to examine the relationships. Further a brief overview of the history of intelligence theories will provide meaning to the development of EI.

#### Literature Search Strategy

The literature search strategy included an in-depth review of Walden University's library databases for peer-reviewed journals and seminal articles related to the topics of

EI, personality traits, and executive functioning. The keywords used during the literature search include *emotional intelligence, executive function, trait theory, self-regulation, personality traits,* and *personality trait theory*. The following is a list of Boolean operators used: *executive function* AND *emotional intelligence, emotional intelligence* AND *emotional regulation, personality traits* AND *emotional intelligence.* The search primarily consisted of sources published from 2016 to 2021, but the search also included critical articles and seminal literature dating as early as 1848. These databases were used in the search: Thoreau Multi, EBSCO, ProQuest Central, PsycTESTS, PsycINFO, and Google Scholar, resulting in 101 full-text, peer-reviewed articles used to complete the literature review. Further, there was an inclusion of articles obtained via reviewed articles by conducting forward searches on relevant articles.

#### **Theoretical Foundation**

The following theoretical frameworks support the consolidation of past research on intelligence, personality, and executive functions. This consolidation of theoretical perspectives should provide a conceptualization of how these different constructs are interrelated. Further, these frameworks will provide a rationale for the study.

#### **Trait Theory**

According to Stelmack and Stalikas (1991), the basic tenets of modern trait theory have a long history, whereas the more contemporary forms of trait theory stem from the work of three founding fathers, Gordon Allport, Raymond Cattell, and Hans Eysenck (Boyle et al., 2016). Allport defined a trait or disposition as a generalized neuropsychic structure which is peculiar to the individual with the capacity to render many stimuli functionally equivalent and to initiate and guide consistent forms of adaptive stylistic behavior (Allport, 1937). Allport's idiographic approach to traits describes the filtering of experience through the characteristic dispositions or habits. For instance, a trait anxious person may experience the world as predominantly hostile (Boyles et al., 2016). The manner in which a person filters their experiences will have an impact on how they will perceive others' emotions and influence their own emotional affect.

Nomothetic trait models are primarily influenced by the work of Cattell (Cattell, 1973, 1978, 1980; Cattell & Kline, 1977). Cattell's research, and propensity towards quantitative measures, led him to develop his theory of human development that integrates cognition, personality, and temperament with environmental and cultural influences. His research culminated in his taxonomy of 16 different personality traits that can be used to describe and explain individual differences among people (Cattell, 1980, 1995).

The third influential psychologist among trait theories is Eysenck (Eysenck, 1947, 1957, 1967). Initially, Eysenck focused on two broad factors of personality – extraversion and neuroticism – and he later included psychoticism within his trait theory. Eysenck himself was a controversial researcher; however, his research on personality had a significant influence on psychology. Much of his research focused on the heritability of intelligence and personality. Eysenck attempted to ground traits in heritable properties of the brain through empirical studies (Boyles et al., 2016).

Interestingly, Eysenck's hypotheses regarding the biological bases of traits continue to be debated. Nevertheless, the research he provided to the field has shown the

importance of the brain and real-life outcomes in understanding personality traits (Matthews & Gilliland, 1999). Eysenck's research inspired others to consider how the three constructs of personality, executive function, and EI seemingly are intertwined through the lens of trait theory.

According to DeYoung (2015), trait theory provides a view of human personality mainly interested in the measurement of traits that supports the idea of a person's unique patterns of thinking, feeling, and behaving. Further, these patterns are considered relatively stable across the lifespan, indicating a biological underpinning to the traits (DeYoung, 2015). The integration of personality traits within EI is best understood through the exploration and understanding of the different theoretical constructs of personality. Specifically, trait theory seeks to assess the distinctive personality characteristics as a means of predicting how individuals will act in different situations.

These underlying assumptions of personality trait theories are illuminated through the work of different theorists, initially beginning with the work from Gordon Allport. Trait theorists have predominantly subscribed to several underlying assumptions and principles of traits (Mathews et al., 2003). One of the main assumptions is that traits are relatively stable across time, continuous, and dimensional. The stability of traits is found through psychometric measures that meet the criteria for reliability and validity, meaning when personality traits are measured through objective measures, the traits remain consistent across these domains of time and dimension. However, Boyles et al. (2016) stated that validity is problematic, leading to concerns with criterion validity, including error rates during performance and amplitudes of psychological responses. Another central assumption of trait theory is the genetic basis of traits. The concept of personality has a genetic component that was initially considered a controversial topic. However, the research that has been conducted on personality has shown that there is a strong correlation between genetic influences and kinship personality traits (Boyles et al., 2016). The genetic relationship between the general factor of personality and trait EI indicates there is a substantial proportion of overlap between the two constructs, further suggesting there is a genetic component to personality including trait EI and general factors of personality (Van der Linden et al., 2018). Modern neuroscience models have also provided testable predictors of DNA linked to specific phenotypic personality traits. What previous research defines is a universality to traits, where they correspond to individual differences in brain functioning across cultures.

Further, traits have been found to have a general trait of expression and interaction across situations. In other words, traits are shown to have cross-situational consistency allowing different traits to support expression within different situations (Boyles et al., 2016). The general trait is referred to as a *general factor of personality* (Van der Linden et al., 2018). This assumption demonstrates the ability of a trait to affect behavioral outcomes across different situations. For example, extroversion is not only experienced during gatherings with others, but instead, it will impact the results across multiple situations. Further, Van der Linden (2018) found that traits may be switched on or off dependent upon a situation. Overall, traits will influence not only immediate behavior but the environmental experiences which impact development over the lifespan. Trait theory has been shown to have a relationship within the domain of EI, and a subsequent theory of trait EI has emerged from these studies (Petrides, 2007). However, the relationship between personality traits and EI, although defined by Petrides (2007), contributes to the unclear delineation between the two constructs. Therefore, I felt that the inclusion of trait theory supported the understanding of the relationship between personality traits and EI, including whether personality traits may predict EI development.

#### **Theory of Executive Function**

EF is a theoretical construct representing a domain of cognitive processes that regulate, control, and manage other cognitive functions (Barkley, 2012). This constellation of cognitive abilities includes several abilities such as inhibition, working memory, cognitive flexibility, self-monitoring, and so forth. There is an increasing understanding of the physiological components of EF supported through neuroimaging studies (Chung et al., 2014). Many of these studies have suggested that the prefrontal and parietal regions are involved in EF (Wade et al., 2018).

Moreover, many researchers have been interested in understanding the relationship between EF and the different components of theory of mind or the aspects of how people understand others' thoughts and emotions, a hallmark of EI. According to Wade et al. (2018), EF may create limitations on a child's ability to effectively represent and reason about mental states during actual task performance. In their review of the literature, Wade et al. (2018) found robust evidence from cross-sectionally and longitudinally derived sources that EF may have a directional relationship with components of theory of mind. More specifically, this directional relationship appears to impact aspects of how individuals can moderate their affect to understand those around them. Further, there seems to be a strong correlation between the physiological brain structures associated with EF and the theory of mind (Chung et al., 2014).

The theoretical framework of EF emerged within the literature in the 1970s and 1980s (Goldberg et al., 1989; Grafman, 1988; Morice, 1986; Pribram, 1973, 1976; Sandson & Albert, 1984; Stuss & Benson, 1987; Welsh & Pennington, 1988), when a link was found between frontal lobe functioning and executive functioning. Before this, the focus within the literature was on the prefrontal cortex (Harlow, 1848, 1868) and the frontal lobe functions, including will and temperament (Downey, 1923) or "synthetic ability" (Dyrud & Donnelly, 1969) among others.

Early definitions of EF consisted of a primary focus on the functions of the prefrontal lobes, thus intrinsically tying the EF with the functions of the prefrontal cortex (Barkley, 2012). While the relationship between EF and the prefrontal cortex are highly intertwined, the two are not interchangeable. According to Barkley (2012), the prefrontal cortex is not only home to EF but a variety of cortical connections, including the basal ganglia, amygdala, limbic system, and the cerebellum (Denckla, 1996; Nigg & Casey, 2005).

Barkley's self-regulatory model of EF (1997) is based on self-regulation and will provide the framework for looking at the relationship between EF and EI. Barkley drew from two previously developed theories on language and the prefrontal cortex to create a more comprehensive theory of EF. The self-regulatory model looks at EF through five different components (1997). The primary component is behavioral inhibition where individuals inhibit prepotent responses or stop an ongoing response to control interference (1997). Another primary component of this model is working memory that allows individuals to attend to needed information to maintain a stream of thought (1997). Self-regulation of affect-motivation-arousal is another intermediate component of his model that focuses on emotional self-control to regulate motivation and arousal to achieve goal-directed behavior. Internalization of speech and reconstitution follow with the ability for an individual to develop reflective and moral reasoning based on rulegoverned behaviors and to mentally shift one's behavior based on these cognitive understandings of metarules (1997). Overall, these components of EF govern motor control-fluency-syntax through the inhibition of task-irrelevant responses, the initiation of goal-directed behaviors, emotional control, ability to shift behavior based on response feedback and monitoring the self for goal-directed persistence (1997).

The theory of EF supports the conceptualization of a relationship with components of EI. However, it does not fully account for the intricacies within views of EI, and therefore additional theoretical frameworks are needed to guide the intended purpose of the study. The inclusion of trait theory enhances that understanding for the current study. However, this review will also provide a backdrop for the emergence of intelligence theories to offer a fully integrated theoretical framework for understanding the components of EI and why personality traits and EF are considered possible predictors.

#### **Personality Traits**

As part of this review, an evaluation of the relationship between personality traits and EI will be included. Further, an understanding of the relationship between personality traits and executive functions will enhance the knowledge of the triad: EI, personality traits, and EF. Personality trait models have undergone a similar trajectory of development as intelligence models.

#### **Five-Factor Model**

Costa and McCrae (1992), the developers of the five-factor model (FFM), identified five broad factors of personality. This model has become the most widely used and accepted model of personality today, often referred to as the 'big five.' According to Costa and McCrae (1992), the FFM describes each person as falling along a spectrum of the five different traits. Therefore, each person will have some extent of openness to experience, conscientiousness, extroversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism.

According to the FFM, the trait of openness may range from being practical and routine-oriented to curious and independent, focusing mainly on imagination, feelings, actions, and ideas. The trait of conscientiousness may range from being impulsive, careless, and disorganized to hardworking, dependable, and organized, focusing mainly on competence, self-discipline, and thoughtfulness. The trait of extroversion may range from being quiet and reserved to outgoing and adventuresome, focusing on emotional expression. The trait of agreeableness looks at being cooperative, trustworthy, and goodnatured, ranging from critical and uncooperative to helpful, trusting, and empathetic. Lastly, the trait of neuroticism focuses on the tendency toward unstable emotions, ranging from those who are calm and even-tempered to those who are anxious, unhappy, and prone to negative emotions.

The factors associated with the big five range between two extremes on the spectrum of personality traits, where individuals are identified on a continuum between the two extremes rather than at polar ends. Interestingly, the big five personality traits, among other personality traits, have shown to be relatively stable across the lifespan (McCrae & Costa, 1997). However, some traits may shift slightly as a person ages. For example, Donnellan and Lucas (2008) found that conscientiousness tends to increase through young adulthood into middle age, as seen in the increased ability to manage personal relationships and careers. Further, agreeableness has also been shown to increase with age (Terrancciano, McCrae, Brant, & Costa, 2005). Additionally, the big five personality traits have been shown to exist across ethnicities, cultures, and ages, and may have substantial biological and genetic components (Jang et al., 1996; McCrae & Costa, 1997; Schmitt et al., 2007).

#### **Personality and Emotional Intelligence**

There is a broad spectrum of research surrounding the relationship between EI and personality factors. The studies conducted are attempts to understand whether trait EI – a perspective on EI pioneered by Petrides and colleagues (Pertrides & Furnham, 2001) – is linked with the FFM of personality or a construct of its own (Hughes et al., 2018). Much of this research suggests there is a significant correlation between personality factors and emotional constructs. The most recent definition of trait EI developed by Petrides and colleagues states it is a "constellation of emotional self-perceptions located at the lower levels of personality hierarchies" (Petrides, 2010, p. 137). Although there is a large body of evidence to demonstrate the differences between trait EI and ability EI (Van Rooy et al., 2005), there is continued disagreement on what extent trait EI falls within an existing personality model or whether it captures a new factor of personality (Hughes et al., 2018).

Personality typically refers to the relatively stable factors which are associated with a person's pattern of thinking, feeling, and behaving over a lifespan (Hughes & Batey, 2017). The resemblance of trait EI with personality constructs includes factors such as empathy and tendermindedness, impulsiveness, assertiveness, self-esteem, and competence, or self-motivation and achievement striving (Hughes & Evans, 2018). These constructs closely resemble the constructs within the FFM. Although trait EI did not initially set out to identify the self-perceived abilities of a personality, it has integrated these concepts into the model. It is essential to refine trait EI further to integrate personality factors more exclusively (Hughes & Evans, 2018).

Research from numerous fields demonstrates that personality traits do have an association with the perception (detecting an emotion) and valuation (determining whether an emotion warrants regulation) steps within the identification of emotional states (Carver & Connor-Smith, 2010; Schindler & Querengässer, 2019). According to the FFM, several traits, openness, conscientiousness, and extroversion, are also strongly associated with detection and regulation of emotional states. Further, there is evidence from a handful of empirical studies that demonstrate that personality traits may predict how people want to feel or make others feel (Eldesouky & English, 2018; Ford & Tamir,

2014). It is evident that there is a relationship between personality and EI, but the clarity of these interactions remains muddled in the plethora of research on the two topics.

The lack of clarity within these interactions can be seen in multiple studies. For instance, studies conducted to develop insights into the relationship between personality traits and EI have focused on numerous outcomes and etiologies (Krajniak et al., 2018; Sordia et al., 2019; Urquijo et al., 2019). Trait EI has been associated with numerous outcome-based results in life from school to work. In one study conducted by Sordia et al. (2019) emotional creativity was shown to moderate potential and achievement, thus enhancing interpersonal and intrapersonal skills. Similarly, Urquijo et al. (2019) discovered that EI is associated with variances in latent personality traits and work satisfaction. These findings suggest the aspects leading to higher EI are correlated with personality traits, such as been identified by Petrides and colleagues, but also increase skills that lead to higher life satisfaction.

In contrast, Krajniak et al. (2018) addressed the relationship between college adjustment and mental health-related concerns, anticipating there would be a relationship between personality disordered symptomology and EI. Whereas the correlation between higher EI and personality traits seems to lead to higher life satisfaction, deficits in EI appear to have an association with disordered personality characteristics and symptoms (Krajniak et al., 2018). These are important findings for the current study as they indicate the notion that EI is predictive of specific outcomes above and beyond the predictive value of personality traits alone. Their findings support the relationship of personality traits contributing to the prediction of EI, rather than the two constructs working
separately. These findings further suggest that there may be an alternative model between EI and personality trait factors.

Pérez-González and Sánchez-Ruiz (2014) published a study in which they found that trait EI can be considered a broad personality trait integrated into the higher levels of a multi-level personality hierarchy. Whereas Petrides et al. (2007) attempted to incorporate trait EI within the lower levels of personality factors. They also concluded that this construct could be considered a proxy for the general factor of personality (Pérez-González & Sánchez-Ruiz, 2014). However, in a later study conducted by Alegre et al. (2019), where they attempted to replicate the research done by Pérez-González and Sánchez-Ruiz (2014), found that trait EI showed convergent validity with personality but not discriminant validity. These findings suggest that trait EI is not integrated into the higher level of personality hierarchies yet does demonstrate another way to measure the same big five personality traits of personality (Alegre et al., 2019). Further, the findings suggest a strong correlation with the general personality factor, except for neuroticism (Alegre et al., 2019). Overall, these studies demonstrate there is a correlation between EI and personality traits and therefore it is important to continue to study what the relationship truly is between these two constructs.

#### **History of Intelligence Theories**

The desire to understand intelligence or the capacity for the mind to remember and learn is rooted in history. However, it was psychology that provided the forum in which to study intelligence (Gottfredson & Saklofske, 2009). From the theories of intelligence came the understanding of EI. The following is a brief overview of the theoretical foundations for intelligence which will provide a backdrop for understanding how the theory of EI was developed.

#### **Psychometric Movements Role in Theories of Intelligence**

Psychometric theories of intelligence generally emerged to understand the structures of intelligence. Theorists who desired to connect theoretical attributes of introspection to observable phenomena developed assessment tools, measurement instruments, and formalized models. Theorists (Binet,1905; Cattell, 1963; Galton, 1865; Spearman, 1904; Thurstone, 1938) within the psychometrics movement established their work based on different factors of abilities that we can be measured (Gottfredson & Saklofske, 2009). It is the concept of abilities that intelligence theories have developed conceptual frameworks, either identifying one central ability or focusing on multiple types of abilities that make up general intelligence.

The theorists who developed the theories on intelligence understood there is a relationship between abilities and intelligence. Galton, for example, believed that the individual's innate predispositions of heredity are correlated with innate abilities of intelligence (Bulmer, 2003). Galton, and other theorist, continued to mold and translate the construct many times in the years to come as theories of intelligence emerged.

For instance, Spearman branched from the concept that intelligence is composed of general mental ability and developed a quantitative method of analysis to identify common factors among different ability measures, referred to as factor analysis (Spearman, 1904). Factor analysis provided an avenue to measure the relationships between various cognitive abilities and overall general intelligence. Binet (1905) defined intelligence through the perceptions of individual and through their higher-level processes which operate on these perceptions. Further, Binet began to recognize the relationship between intelligence and emotion on the integrative factors of personality, a theory that was never developed before he died (Varon, 1936). Thurstone (1938), instead, suggests that there are seven different factors of intelligence, each that can be measured and described separately.

## **Models of Intelligence**

There are many different models of intelligence. However, there are several in particular that support the relationship between intelligence and emotion. The evolution of varying intelligence theories helps understand how our "emotional mind will harness the rational mind to its purposes" (Srivastava, 2013, p. 97) based on emotional memory developed through processes such as interpretive bias (Becker & Leinenger, 2011).

Howard Gardner (1983) developed the theory of multiple intelligences, where intelligence is comprised of numerous independent abilities. Similar to Thurstone's model of primary abilities, Gardner developed eight distinct bits of intelligence that are different from one another. Whereas the model of primary abilities and other models of intelligence combined skills to create constructs of intelligence, the theory of multiple intelligences posits each construct of intelligence is separate and will function separately or in conjunction to produce intelligence (Sternberg & Sternberg, 2012).

The concepts of interpersonal and intrapersonal intelligence spoke to the awareness of feelings within intelligence (Mayer, Salovey, Caruso, Cherkasskiy, 2011). These constructs of intelligence point to the differences in how people use intelligence by different people. More specifically, these two abilities of intelligence define a person's ability to understand the perceptions of others and the capability to control and understand oneself (Srivastava, 2013).

Sternberg took the concept of different abilities and developed the triarchic theory of human intelligence, where intelligence is comprised of three aspects that work together: creative, analytical, and practical (Sternberg, 1985a). The triarchic theory of intelligence emphasizes the role of metacognition (creative ability) to plan, monitor, and evaluate the self for problem-solving, considered higher-order executive processes (Sternberg & Sternberg, 2012). Cacioppo and Gardner (1999) relate the relationship that emotion plays within higher mental processes and behavior, as seen in the case of Elliot when trauma impacted his emotional reactivity but not cognition and his ability to plan and make decisions.

Dewey and Lull first used the theory of social intelligence. However, Thorndike expanded on the construct by identifying three divisions of ability based on a person's understanding and management of ideas (abstract intelligence), the mechanical intelligence based on concrete knowledge, and social intelligence based on people (Kihlstrom & Cantor, 2011). More precisely, Thorndike defined social intelligence as a person's ability to manage and understand other people and act accordingly in their relationships (Srivastava, 2013). The evolution of intelligence theories provides a glimpse at how emotions began to play an integral part of how individual abilities were thought to impact intelligence and vice versa. Not only were emotions integrated into the theories of intelligence but also personality.

#### **Emotional Intelligence**

The conceptualization of intelligence as multiple abilities that offers an opportunity for abstract thinking provides a framework for the prediction of certain types of success. Nevertheless, it seemingly continues to leave room for error in the prediction of specific behaviors (Kanesan & Fauzan, 2019). Lending to the search for alternative abilities in intelligence that might account for these variances in success and outcomes.

A comprehensive approach of EI initially appeared in the literature about 20 years ago, with some preliminary attempts at demonstrating that EI could be measured (Mayer et al., 2011). A review of the three different models of EI indicates the construct has emerged through the work of Salovey and Mayer, Bar-on, Goleman, and Petrides. These models have expanded their conceptualization of EI as researchers have continued to analyze the strengths and weaknesses within each model.

## Mayer and Salovey's Mental Ability Model of Emotional Intelligence

Mayer and Salovey's mental ability model of EI is generally synonymous with that of general cognitive abilities, in that individuals have different skills related to their capacity to recognize, comprehend, and manage emotions (Mayer et al., 2011). The metaexperience of monitoring, evaluating, and acting to change one's mood was initially termed EI by Mayer et al. (1991) in a study of a multidomain model of mood, breaking mood down into emotion and emotion-management. However, understanding the concept of EI depends on an exploration of these two terms to establish a new type of intelligence.

## Establishing a New Intelligence

Mayer and Salovey (1995) recognized that to establish a new intelligence, a correlation needs to be developed with already existing types of intelligence, but not so great of an association to imply the same intelligence. Similarly, Bernet (1996) was working to further refine the meaning of EI through an analysis of the awareness of emotions and ability to regulate emotional and behavioral responses. Interestingly, the analysis of emotional awareness and regulation supported both social intelligence and cognitive intelligence.

Taking a more in-depth look at emotions reveals that they appear to have evolved across mammalian species as a mechanism to alert and orient the individual to changes in relationships in the environment (Mayer et al., 2011). Further, cognition, another aspect of mental operations, allows individuals to learn from the environment and to solve problems in novel situations (Mayer et al., 2011). To establish EI as a new intelligence requires the evaluation of the intersection of these two mental operations.

Drawing from past theories of intelligence provides an opening for this intersection of emotion and cognition to merge. Gardner (1997) notes that intelligence is used differently by different people. A concept represented by Terman (1921) in the mental ability model, which characterizes intelligence based on the ability for abstract thinking. Furthermore, later, Wechsler (1940) recognized that individuals with similar IQ can differ significantly in their ability to reason and cope with their environments. Within this vein of thought, Mayer and Salovey (1991) developed a conceptual framework where emotion and cognition simultaneously promote intelligence by directing attention and conducting cognitive processes to prioritize – in a sense, emotion acted as a source of organization in executive functioning.

### The Emergence of a Definition

As the initial work continued to progress on the multi-domain aspects of mood, appraisal, and cognition (Mayer et al.,1991), Mayer and Salovey later connected cognition and affect to define EI. The definition that came after years of research described the ability for individuals to monitor their own and others' feelings while discerning between them to guide their attention and thinking (Mayer & Salovey, 1995). However, Mayer and Salovey (1997) recognized that this definition was limiting the intersection of emotion and cognition, the essence of what defined EI as intelligence. To correct the lack of inclusion of the higher-order processes of cognition into the definition, Mayer and Salovey (1997) make the following revision:

Emotional intelligence involves the ability to perceive accurately, appraise, and express emotion; the ability to access or generate feelings when they facilitate thought; the ability to understand emotion and emotional knowledge; and the ability to regulate emotions to promote emotional and intellectual growth. (p. 10).

#### The Four-Branch Model

Mayer and Salovey's (1997) final definition of EI brought forth the current model of EI and a new model of intelligence emerged based on four branches of psychological processes ranging from basic to higher-order and more psychologically integrated processes. The lowest branch within the model concerns the perception, appraisal, and expression of emotions. The evolution of this process can be witnessed within the development of infants and young children learning to identify their feelings and affective states, up through an adult's ability to identify these emotional states in self and others (Mayer & Salovey, 1995).

The second branch within the model concerns emotion's facilitation of thinking (Mayer & Salovey, 1997). In other words, it describes the processes by which emotional responses to events can assist in intellectual processing. Again, the evolution of this process is witnessed within the alerting response directed through emotions – the baby cries when hungry or smiles in response to pleasure. These emotional responses mature as an individual age to improve thinking and instead direct attention to significant changes (Mayer & Salovey, 1995). Emotion regulation theories, such as the self-regulatory model of executive function and emotional appraisal theory, further enhance this concept by stating that emotional reactions occur based on the perception the individual has of events (Barkley, 1997; Roseman & Evdokas, 2004; Siemer, Mauss, & Gross, 2007).

The third branch of the model addresses the ability to understand and analyzing emotions and employing emotional knowledge (Mayer & Salovey, 1997). Once a child can recognize emotions, they will begin to differentiate between the different emotions, developing a sense of emotion on a continuum. Further, people start to recognize that emotions relate to relationships and situations in that emotions originate from the perception of relationships and events that take place – anger stems from a sense of injustice or sadness that arises from loss (Mayer & Salovey, 1995). As EI develops, these notions of emotions with relationships and situations will become more complex.

Recognizing that emotions can be binary (to love and hate within the same connection) and that emotions can impact decisions and interpersonal relationships, the feeling of being unloved may prevent that person from allowing love from fear of rejection (Mayer et al., 2011).

The fourth branch, and highest level, emphasizes the conscious regulation of emotions to enhance emotional and intellectual growth (Mayer & Salovey, 1997). As people mature, they learn to separate the emotion from the behavior, learning to engage and disengage from emotion at appropriate times. The development of emotion regulation provides the opportunity for the conscious appraisal of situations and the implementation of reasoning through emotional insight (Carstensen & Mikels, 2005). Meaning, individuals gain the ability to understand how emotions are impacting behavior and subsequently disengage when needed. Further, they can apply reasoning strategies based on the understanding of the situation and emotional response. Mayer and Salovey describe this process as meta-experience. In which individuals engage in reflective practices of emotional reactions ("I do not fully understand the way I am feeling" or "These feelings are influencing how I am thinking"), as opposed to simple perceptions of emotions.

#### **Goleman's Mixed Model of Emotional Intelligence**

Moving beyond the concept of EI developed by Mayer and Salovey, Goleman (1995) developed a framework that included several personality qualities that focus on the inclusion of motivation. Within his context of EI, Goleman identifies knowing one's emotions, managing emotions, motivating oneself, recognizing emotions in others, and

handling relationships (Goleman, 1995). Each area is further broken down, and in particular, motivation includes attributes such as marshaling emotions, delaying gratification, and entering flow states (Goleman, 1995). Goleman's definition of EI became so broad that almost any intrapersonal or interpersonal behavior would classify within the definition (Hughes & Evans, 2018).

It was Goleman's definition of EI that hit the mainstream media when his book *Emotional intelligence: Why it can matter more than IQ* was published. However, this book was meant for generalized purposes and lacked the academic rigor needed to substantiate the current models of EI at the time (Hughes & Evans, 2018; Mayer et al., 2011). The publication of the book opened the door for rapid and piecemeal development of EI measures and inconsistencies in terminology, measurement, and empirical findings (Hughes & Evans, 2018).

#### **Bar-On's Emotional Quotient Inventory**

Bar-On developed another approach to EI with a definition as "an array of noncognitive capabilities, competencies, and skills that influence one's ability to succeed in coping with environmental demands and pressures" (Bar-On, 1997, p. 14). This mixedmethod approach to EI was based on five components that included intrapersonal EI, interpersonal EI, stress management, adaptability, and general mood (Bar-On, 1997). The premise of this model of EI was to identify why some individuals are better able to succeed than others (Mayer et al., 2011). These five components are further broken down into fifteen subcomponents: self-regard, emotional self-awareness, assertiveness, independence and self-actualization (Intrapersonal EI); empathy, social responsibility, and interpersonal relationship (Interpersonal EI); stress tolerance and impulse control (Stress Management); reality testing, flexibility, and problem-solving (Adaptability); and optimism and happiness (General Mood).

Both Goleman and Bar-on's definitions of EI focus on a competency-based ability, which includes motivation, empathy, social skills, happiness, and achievement – orientation (Goleman, 1995; Bar-On, 1997). In many ways, the broad definitions of these mixed models can be encompassed within theories of emotion regulation (Gross, 1998), where concepts of emotional regulation facilitate goal -attainment (Gross, 2015).

#### **Petrides Model of Trait Emotional Intelligence**

Petrides and Furnham (2001) used regression analysis measures to identify a unique space within the Five-Factor model of personality for EI. By using confirmatory factor analysis, Petrides and Furnham (2001) were able to validate that emotional intelligence constructs can be isolated within the FFM, indicating that there is a relationship between EI and personality factors. These findings established the model of trait emotional intelligence, a distinct composite of hierarchal trait structures with emotional intelligence.

Petrides and Furnham (2003) define emotional intelligence as a constellation of emotion-related self-perceptions and dispositions, assessed through self-report. The precise composition varies across different conceptualizations, with some models being broader than others. The abilities identified within trait EI include adaptability, assertiveness, emotional appraisal of self and others, emotion express, emotion management, emotion regulation, impulsiveness, relationship skills, self-esteem, selfmotivation, social competence, stress, management, trait empathy, trait happiness, and trait optimism (Petrides & Furnham, 2001). According to Hughes and Evans (2018), there is a large body of evidence that suggests that trait EI does not correlate with ability EI. Thus, surmising that the two models are distinct perspectives, with ability EI linked to differences in intelligence and trait EI linked more to differences in personality.

## **Executive Functioning**

The different functions of EF develop over the lifespan providing an overarching system that allows learning and social interactions (Barkley, 2012). It improves drastically within the first several years of life and continues to develop through adolescents and into adulthood. The skills provide the framework for successful interactions and learning needed to engage in civil society. There are differences in the domains that are associated with EF. However, the typical set of functions considered within the current research reflects on working memory, mental flexibility, and self-control.

According to Suchy (2015), the construct of EF is broken down into five subdomains, which include the executive cognitive functions (dysexecutive syndrome), meta-tasking (disorganized syndrome), response selection (disinhibition syndrome), initiation/maintenance (apathetic syndrome), and social cognition (inappropriate syndrome). Further, Brown's Model of EF (Brown, 2017) includes activation (organizing, prioritizing, and activating to work), focus (focusing, sustaining attention, and shifting focus to the task), effort (regulating alertness, sustaining effort, and processing speed), emotion (managing frustration and modulating emotions), memory (utilizing working memory and accessing recall), and action (monitoring and selfregulating actions). These EF support an individual's ability to remember and follow instructions, adjust to new rules, develop skills and teamwork, leadership, critical thinking adaptability, and emotional awareness.

One aspect of EF is emotional regulation, which refers to the ability to modulate how one feels. Emotional regulation is captured in Barkley's self-regulatory model of EF and has similar correlations with components of EI. Within the model of EI the ability for a person to regulate their emotions to enhance their cognitive functions became an integral aspect of the definition (Mayer & Salovey, 1997). The inclusion of emotional regulation in EF, a cognitive processes model, supports the notion that cognition and emotion are intertwined (Suchy, 2016). Forms of empirical research support this notion of EF supporting top-down regulation, most notably being emotional regulation that emerges in conjunction with EF (Carlson & Wang, 2007; Liebermann, Giebrecht, & Maller, 2007). Similarly, Barkley (2012) defines EF through the lens of self-regulation – stating "those self-directed actions needed to choose goals and to create, enact, and sustain actions toward those goals, or more simply as self-regulation (SR) to achieve goals: EF = SR" (p. 60).

Others have made similar distinctions in EF, including Pruessner et al. (2020) and Gross & Cassidy (2019), who found self-regulation to be among the most characteristic feature of EF. The notion of EF as a function of self-regulation has provided grounding for research on working memory and attention within the domain of EF. The idea of emotional regulation, or the modulation of feelings, has been found in different measures of performance related to EF (Andreotti et al., 2013; Compas et al., 2014; Schweizer et al., 2020). Moreover, these patterns are witnessed in poor regulation and relative weaknesses in EF as well (Schweizer et al., 2020). However, the understanding of how these processes work in conjunction is not as well understood, resulting in a lack of coherent literature.

## **Executive Functioning and Emotional Intelligence**

According to Hughes and Evans (2018), studying personality traits can improve our understanding of how and why individual differences in emotion regulation arise. They go on to state our most prominent call for future research is to continue the integration using theoretical frameworks, such as the extended process model (Gross, 2015) and the IMAID (Hughes & Evans, 2018). These theoretical frameworks pull together the constructs of personality, emotional regulation as an EF, and EI.

Research has predominantly studied personality-driven differences in how people regulate (i.e., regulation strategies) with less known about personality-driven differences in why people regulate (Gross & Cassidy, 2019; Pruessner et al., 2020). What research there is (e.g., Eldesouky & English, 2018) suggests that further work will prove fruitful in helping to explain individual differences in emotion regulation. Research has predominantly examined personality concerning a limited range of emotional regulation strategies (e.g., avoidance, reappraisal, suppression) and completely neglected relations between personality and implementation tactics.

Different behavioral patterns emerge in the cognitive processes that allow mental flexibility when adapting to different emotional contexts. The use of emotional regulation

in cognitive processes has been associated with other EFs of inhibition, working memory, and shifting (Pruessner et al., 2020). Further, the relationship between this different EF (working memory, inhibition, shifting, and emotional regulation) has shown that working memory has an association with negative affect reduction and aspects of emotional behavior and regulation (Hendricks & Buchanan, 2016). This may suggest that there is a role of EF within the construct of EI.

There are studies aimed at understanding the relationship between these constructs over a lifespan, recognizing many behavioral patterns are part of a natural human phenotype (Pinker, 2002). In more recent years, there has been a growing interest in the antecedents of emotional regulation and cognitive processes. Without theoretical frameworks in place to organize these findings, there is little integration of the results. However, Gross and Cassidy (2019) examined how and why children engage in a strategy of emotional regulation referred to as expressive suppression through the lens of the process model of emotional regulation. Moreover, Hantke et al. (2017) found that more mediocre performance of EFs (explicitly working memory and attention) was associated with weaker ability to adapt to different emotional states (specifically conflict). Thus, demonstrating there is a known relationship between EF and constructs related to EI over the lifespan.

In consideration of EI constructs, which emphasize the perception and regulation of one's emotional affect and others within different dynamic contexts, it is reasonable to begin to integrate EF within the theoretical framework of EI. It is unclear whether the consolidation of EI competencies and EF competencies will, in turn, lead to a deeper understanding of EI constructs or if these theoretical constructs will instead fall into theories developed on emotional regulation. It is the goal of this research to help build the bridge between the different concepts and subsequently deepen the understanding of EI.

## **Summary**

Aspects of EI stem from a long history of intelligence theories which purport that individuals have multiple factors contributing their intelligence. These notions led Mayer and Salovey to develop an emergent theory of intelligence which combined emotional amplitudes with cognitive processes. EI suggests that intelligence is comprised of multiple abilities and that the inclusion of emotional control and higher-order levels of awareness factors into intelligence (Mayer & Salovey, 1997). There is a further understanding of the relationship between personality traits, which have long been considered factors that contribute to interpersonal and intrapersonal skills that have some impact on EI. In conjunction, there are indicators within the research that EF also has some interaction within the cognitive processes that have been associated with the theory of EI. Next, Chapter 3 will focus on the research design and rationale to examine the relationship between these constructs: EI, personality traits, and EF.

#### Chapter 3: Research Method

## Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the relationship between personality factors and executive functioning when measuring the variance in EI. In this chapter an introduction to and rationale for the research design will be provided. Further, the methodology, population, sampling and sampling procedures, recruitment and participation, and data collection methods are described. In addition, the instrumentation that was used to measure the desired variables are described and operationalized. A detailed data analysis plan is provided with threats to internal and external validity. Lastly, ethical considerations are described.

#### **Research Design and Rationale**

This study was a quantitative, cross-sectional research design that contributes to the knowledge and understanding of EI by determining if one or more personality factors and executive functions have a predictive relationship with EI when measured by the emotional intelligence scale (Schutte et al., 1998), the big five inventory-10 (BFI-10; Rammstedt & John, 2007), and the deficits in executive functioning scale (Barkley, 2011). Further, the participants will have different vital factors such as age, sex, and location collected for demographic purposes.

The study was exploratory in order to determine if there are correlations between personality factors, executive functions, and EI. A multiple linear regression analysis, or multiple linear regression, that includes more than one predictor variable provided the opportunity to assess how well dependent variables can be predicted against multiple predictor variables. Further, the multiple linear regression analysis provided information on how much variance is predicted by each predictor variable when the other predictor variables are statistically controlled (Warner, 2013). Assumptions of a multiple linear regression analysis indicate the dependent variable is measured at the ordinal level. Secondly, one or more of the independent variables are continuous, ordinal, or categorical. Third, there is no multicollinearity between the variables. Last, the variables have proportional odds. The data collected was assessed to determine if it meets these assumptions prior to running the multiple linear regression.

#### Methodology

## **Population**

The target population was a sample of adults ages 25- to 65-years-old. The target age range was decided based on developmental trajectories over a lifespan. According to Berk (2010), early adulthood, ranging from 25 - 40 years, is a time when cognitive processes begin to shift towards advanced experience-dependent brain growth and ultimately start to flatten or drop off in late adulthood, ranging from 65-years to death. Early adulthood to late adulthood, while there is variability within the cognitive processes provided the least variability due to more consistent developmental growth.

## Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

To participate in this study, participants needed to be between the age of 25 - 65 years old, as determined by life span development and to reduce exposure to vulnerable populations. Participants needed to have access to the internet to complete the survey, and therefore individuals who do not have access were excluded from this study.

## Sample Size Analysis

A G-power analysis was conducted to determine the appropriate sample size for the study. According to Faul et al. (2009), a priori power analysis provides the desired effect size, the  $\alpha$  level, and the desired power level. According to Cohen (1992), it is suggested to use an effect size of .02 (small), .15 (medium), or .35 (large) to obtain reliable and scholarly analysis of statistical data when performing multiple regression studies. Therefore, for the purpose of this study and number of variables, a medium effect size of 0.15 was most appropriate. An alpha level of .05 is used ensure there is no risk of rejecting the null hypothesis within the scope of this analysis. Given the number of variables, effect size,  $\alpha$  level, and power level, G-power analysis suggests a sample size of 89 participants.

#### **Research Procedures**

#### Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

Participants were primarily recruited through social media sites. Using social media platforms, such as Facebook, Twitter, and LinkedIn, to disseminate the survey link supported a timely recruitment process at a minimal cost. To support the outreach to more individuals, the use of Facebook's advertising program was utilized with permissions and following all guidelines set forth by the company for public use. Participants were asked to share the survey link with others to increase the potential sample population. This is known as snowball sampling.

The use of Survey Monkey to collect the data provided a familiar platform for users who have access to the internet. Individuals who chose to participate in the study by completing the survey were provided informed consent prior to beginning. To ensure participant confidentiality, no identifying information was collected, and the individuals were encouraged to keep a copy of their informed consent for their own records. The informed consent also provided the individual with contact information for the researcher and affiliated university.

# Instrumentations

The instrumentation used to collect data on the different variables included three different questionnaires. Each questionnaire addressed the three overarching constructs that are being measured – EI, personality traits, and executive functions.

## **Emotional Intelligence Scale**

The Emotional Intelligence Scale, developed by Schutte et al. (1998), is used as a self-report measure to help identify traits of EI. Self-rated inventories are sometimes used as alternatives to ability-based tests of EI for ease of use and time savings. The scale consists of 33 questions derived from Salovey and Mayer's (1990) four trait model that relate to a person's emotions and aim to identify the extent to which each statement relates to the individual. Individuals answer based on a Likert scale ranging from 1 (*strongly agree*) to 5 (*strongly disagree*).

The scale is considered a homogeneous construct of EI after a factor analysis of a larger pool of items suggested a one-factor solution of 33-items (Schutte et al., 1998). The 33-items scale identifies appraisal and expression of emotion in the self and others, regulation of emotions in the self and others and utilization of emotions in solving problems. Schutte et al. (1998) report a cross-check of internal consistency showed a Cronbach's alpha of 0.87 and a two-week test-retest reliability of 0.78. Ciarrochi et al. (2001, 2002) pulled responses from adolescents and university students to report internal consistency for the following subscales : Perception of Emotion, .76, .80; Managing Own Emotions, .63, .78; Managing Others' Emotions, .66, .66 and Utilization of Emotion, .55, (the alpha for this scale was not reported in Ciarrochi et al., 2002).

Further, the scale showed evidence of validity. The scale was measured against nine other measures which are theoretically related to EI, including awareness of emotions, outlook on life, depressed mood, ability to regulate emotions and impulsivity. Scores on the scale differed between groups that were expected to differ on levels of EI. For instance, Brackett and Mayer (2003) found that scores were correlated with scores on the EQ-I and the MSCEIT, indicating a significant relationship at r = 0.43.

The scale also showed evidence of discriminant validity when measured against SAT scores and personality. Schutte et al. (1998), Brackett and Mayer (2003), and Bastian et al. (2005) respectively reported the following correlations between the Assessing Emotions Scale and each of the Big Five Dimensions: extraversion, .28, .32, .61; agreeableness, .26, .09, .23; conscientiousness, .21, .25, .32; emotional stability, .28, .19, .37; and openness, .54, .43, .43. These correlations indicate that across studies scores on the Assessing Emotions Scale are relatively distinct from scores on each of the Big Five Dimensions.

### **Big Five Inventory-10**

The big five inventory-10 (BFI-10) was adapted by Rammstedt and John (2007) to measure personality in one minute or less. This inventory is a 10-item short version of

the big five inventory and has been adapted in English and German. Individuals who are completing the inventory are asked ten questions regarding their personality and asked to answer on a Likert scale ranging from (1) *disagree strongly*, (2) *disagree a little*, (3) *neither agree or disagree*, (4) *agree a little*, or (5) *agree strongly*.

The brevity of this scale supports time restraints often found in research settings, while maintaining acceptable psychometric properties (Rammstedt & John, 2007). Several studies demonstrate acceptable reliability estimates for the BFI-10. In a sample of American students, Rammstedt and John (2007) demonstrated test-retest correlations between r=.65 (Openness) and r=.79 (Extraversion) over a period of 6 to 8 weeks. Comparable results were found for the German BFI-10 items in several studies. For example, Rammstedt et al. (2014) reported retest correlations between r=.49 (Neuroticism) and r=.62 (Openness) over a period of 6 weeks. Further, this BFI-10 shows high intercorrelations to the longer form BFI-44 ([r = 0.83]; Rammstedt & John, 2007).

According to Rammstedt and John (2007) there are relatively low correlations among the Big Five scales, ranging from r = .08 to r = .13. Furthermore, in subsequent studies, factor analyses reveal a simple-structure of the items with substantial loadings on the convergent factor (averaged .64) and negligible secondary loadings on the four other factors ([averaged .08] Rammstedt & John, 2007; Rammstedt et al., 2013; Rammstedt et al., 2014). Although the reduction in the number of BFI items did lower external validity when compared to NEO-PI-R, where the BFI-10 shares 45% of their variance with the NEO-PI-R domain scales, the convergent validity remained substantial (r = .44) and the discriminant validity excellent ([r = .19]; Rammstedt & John, 2007).

#### **Barkley Deficits in Executive Functioning Scale (BDEFS)**

The BDEFS (Barkley, 2011) is used to assess deficits in EF in adults aged 18 years and older. The BDEFS is based on 16 years of research and stems from a large normative sample (*N*> 1,200) which is representative of the U.S. population, in terms of region, socioeconomic status, education, ethnicity/race, and gender (Barkley, 2011). The scale consists of 91-items rated on a Likert scale from (1) *rarely*, (2) *sometimes*, (3) *often*, and (4) *very often*. The scale was constructed based on executive function theories and three groups were compared to determine validity. For this study, the responses gathered will assess if the components of executive function have a relationship with the dependent variable of EI.

Barkley (2011) report the reliability of the scores is quite satisfactory as evidenced by high internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha ranging from .91 to .95 scores across the five scales); good interobserver agreement (.66 to .79 across scales), and high test-retest reliability over a 2–3-week interval (ranging from .62 to .90 across scales and .84 for the Total EF Summary Score). Lastly, a principal component factor analysis with varimax rotation indicated there are five factors measured on this scale, including selfmanagement to time, self-organization/problem-solving, self-discipline/inhibition, selfmotivation, concentration/attention, and self-activation/initiation.

In a study conducted by Franklin et al. (2018) the BDEFS was used to measure the impact of trait anxiety among men and women on EF. According to Franklin et al. (2018) self-management to time has a sample-derived reliability of  $\alpha = 0.77$ , selforganization has a sample-derived reliability of  $\alpha = 0.79$ , self-restraint has a samplederived reliability of  $\alpha = 0.72$ , self-motivation has a sample-derived reliability of  $\alpha = 0.83$ , and self-regulation of emotion has a sample-derived reliability of  $\alpha = 0.92$ .

#### **Operationalization**

These measures provided the needed data to operationalize the variables for the study. However, to obtain the variables for personality traits of extraversion, agreeableness, conscientiousness, neuroticism, and openness the questions from the BFI-10 that were associated with each variable were combined to create a standard score for each variable. For example, to operationalize the variable for extraversion questions three and eight were combined in SPSS to score the questions. To obtain an accurate score from the survey, question eight was reverse scored prior to exporting raw data to IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS). The same process was completed for the questions associated with EI, self-management of time, organization/problem-solving, self-restraint, motivation, and emotional regulation. Reverse scores were completed in Survey Monkey prior to exporting to SPSS.

#### Data Analysis

Multiple linear regression permits the researcher to demonstrate whether an ordinal dependent variable can be predicted given one or more independent variables. This type of regression can also be used to predict dependent variables based on interactions between independent variables. Using multiple linear regression for the current study permitted the researcher to identify if personality traits or executive function have a statistically significant effect on EI, or if there is an interaction between personality traits and executive functions that show a statistically significant effect on EI.

Data was gathered initially through Survey Monkey and then downloaded into version 24 of SPSS, a software package used for statistical analysis. Data was carefully inspected to ensure there are no coding errors during the transfer. Assumptions of a multiple linear regression analysis indicate the dependent variable is measured at the ordinal level. Secondly, one or more of the independent variables are continuous, ordinal, or categorical. These assumptions are identified by the type of data being collected as all ordinal variables. An analysis was run to address assumptions of multicollinearity between the variables and the variables have proportional odds.

### **Research Question and Hypotheses**

Research Question: What is the relationship between the personality traits of openness, agreeableness, extroversion, conscientiousness, and neuroticism and the executive functions of self-management to time, self-organization/problem-solving, selfdiscipline/inhibition, self-motivation, concentration/attention, and selfactivation/initiation to predict the total variance of EI?

 $H_1$ : There is a relationship between personality traits and executive function in the variance of EI.

 $H_0$ : There will be no relationship between personality traits and executive function in the variance of EI.

#### **Threats to Validity**

There are several threats to validity that should be addressed. First, the use of self-reports has shown to be susceptible to faking good, or report bias (Schutte et al., 2011). There is a tendency for participants to respond to questions on self-report questions in a way they believe is socially desirable. In order to reduce this threat to internal validity the participants will be reminded that truthful responses will provide the most accurate results for the study and their identity is anonymous.

A second threat to validity occurs from recruitment procedures. Participants who volunteer to complete the survey are not guaranteed to be an accurate representation of the general population (Creswell & Creswell, 2017), thus reducing the ability to generalize the results of the study to other populations. Further, confounding is another threat to external validity that must be addressed. Confounding suggests that the results of the study may be impacted by variables that cannot be accounted or controlled for in this type of study. Again, reducing the ability for the results to be generalized.

### **Ethical Considerations**

The study presents very few ethical considerations. Careful consideration was taken to ensure the least amount of risk or harm to human life when developing the study. All participants were adults, and the topic did not require any sensitive information to be collected. Participation was completely voluntary, and participants were able to withdraw at any time by discontinuing the survey. Further, surveys included an informed consent providing details of the study, their rights, methods for collecting and storing data, and contact information of the researcher and Walden representative. To ensure all ethical considerations are in place, the study underwent approval through Walden University's Internal Review Board (IRB), approval was granted on March 26, 2021, with IRB approval # is 03-26-21-0519015.

Further, after approval was obtained data was collected initially through Survey Monkey which is a secure site. The use of Survey Monkey ensured site security. SurveyMonkey (2020) maintains a documented vulnerability management program which includes periodic scans, identification, and remediation of security vulnerabilities on servers, workstations, network equipment, and applications. All networks, including test and production environments, are regularly scanned using trusted third-party vendors (Survey Monkey, 2020). Critical patches are applied to servers on a priority basis and as appropriate for all other patches (Survey Monkey, 2020). Survey Monkey (2020) also conducts regular internal and external penetration tests and remediate according to severity for any results found. Once the required number of participants was reached data was transferred to SPSS and stored on a password encrypted hard drive that will only be accessible by the researcher. The data that was collected will be deleted and destroyed after the five-year period as required by the university.

## Summary

The purpose of this quantitative, non-experimental, cross-sectional correlation research study was to determine if personality traits and executive functions have a relative and combined effect on EI. The purpose of the study correlates with the research design by attempting to examine the degree of the relationship between the variable and if there is a combined effect between the two independent variables on the dependent variable of EI.

This chapter was an overview of the research design and methodology that was used to conduct the study. It included the recruitment procedures, participants, and data collection methods. Further, it outlined the instrumentation that was used to collect the required data for the study. A review of the research questions was provided, along with the possible threats to the validity of the study and measures that will be taken to possibly counteract those issues. Last, ethical considerations were noted.

## Chapter 4: Results

#### Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative study was to identify possible predictors of EI. In this chapter, I describe the processes used for data collection and the analysis of this data to answer the RQ and test the hypotheses. The results are presented with tables included to help illustrate the findings. The findings included in this chapter include descriptive statistics, evaluation of assumptions, and the statistical analyses used to address the study's RQ.

The RQ for this study was, what is the relationship between the personality traits of openness, agreeableness, extroversion, conscientiousness, and neuroticism and the executive functions of self-management to time, self-organization/problem-solving, selfdiscipline/inhibition, self-motivation, concentration/attention, and selfactivation/initiation to predict the total variance of EI? The hypotheses were as follows:

 $H_1$ : There is a relationship between personality traits and executive function in the variance of EI.

 $H_0$ : There will be no relationship between personality traits and executive function in the variance of EI.

#### **Data Collection**

Recruitment for this study began on March 28, 2021, after obtaining IRB approval (#03-26-21-0519015). The use of an online survey created through Survey Monkey provided a link that was used to recruit potential participants through Facebook, Instagram, and LinkedIn. The link for the survey was shared on these sites and boosted

to reach a larger audience. Further, it was encouraged for individuals to share the post to further enhance the reach of participants. The post allowed potential participants to click the link sending them to the survey. To begin the survey, participants needed to indicate their approval by clicking on the consent form. Data collection officially ended April 24, 2021. I removed incomplete surveys and surveys completed by participants who did not meet the inclusion criteria (adults, ages 25 - 65 years of age). After completing this initial cleanup of data, 90 of the 123 responses were viable for analysis.

## **Data Analysis Procedures**

After the initial clean-up of data in Survey Monkey, the raw data for the 90 participants was transferred to SPSS, Version 27, to begin the process of testing for assumptions and descriptive statistics. Multiple linear regression was conducted to examine the relationship between EI, personality traits, and EF. To accurately measure these different variables, the raw data was transformed from the questionnaire responses into the variables. To obtain the variables for personality traits of extraversion, agreeableness, conscientiousness, neuroticism, and openness, the questions from the BFI-10 that were associated with each variable were included in the transformation in SPSS. The same process was completed for the questions associated with EI, self-management of time, organization/problem-solving, self-restraint, motivation, and emotional regulation. Once transformations of raw data were completed in SPSS the model was left with 11 variables to work with in the regression.

## **Results of the Study**

# **Demographics**

There was a total of 123 participants from the United States who attempted to complete the survey. The survey, located on Survey Monkey, was accessed via a Facebook, Twitter, and LinkedIn link. It consisted of demographic information and three self-report questionnaires: the emotional intelligence scale, the big five inventory-10, and Barkley deficits in executive functioning scale. From the 123 participants, 90 were eligible for data analysis due to incomplete responses by 33 participants. Participant demographics (N=90) are shown in Table 1. Age was measured as a nominal variable where participants were able to indicate their age range starting at 25-34, 35-44, 45-54, and 55-65. Gender was measured as a categorical variable. The majority of the participants were female (76.7%) between the ages of 55-65 years (41.1%). The age range with the second largest response rate was between the ages of 35-44 years (25.5%).

## Table 1

Variable		n	Percent
Age	25-34 years	16	17.8
	35-44 years	23	25.6
	45-54 years	13	14.4
	55-65 years	37	41.1
Gender	Male	20	22.2
	Female	69	76.7

*Descriptive Statistics for Sample Demographics (n=90)* 

## **Descriptive Statistics of Study Variables**

An analysis of the descriptive statistics was conducted for the variables of interest. The results of the analysis can be found in Table 2. The data met the assumption of non-zero variances. Results indicate a mixed variance among the variables. Variables of executive function, self-management to time, organization/problem-solving, selfrestraint, motivation, and emotional regulation, showed a high variance. While the variables of personality factors, extraversion, agreeableness, conscientiousness, neuroticism, and openness, showed a low variance. High variance indicates the data is spread further from the mean, while low variance indicates the data points are closer to the mean.

# Table 2

Variables	n	Min	Max	М	SD	Variance
Emotional Intelligence	90	82	162	124.98	16.47	271.30
Extraversion	90	4	10	6.79	1.20	1.45
Agreeableness	90	3	10	6.52	1.56	2.43
Conscientiousness	90	4	9	6.73	1.21	1.46
Neuroticism	90	2	10	6.28	1.32	1.73
Openness	90	4	10	6.93	1.31	1.70
Self-Management to Time	90	18	59	33.49	10.81	116.90
Organization/Problem-Solving	90	24	84	37.63	12.51	156.39
Self-Restraint	90	18	60	29.13	8.94	79.98
Motivation	90	12	42	17.04	5.87	34.49
Emotional Regulation	90	13	52	23.02	9.26	85.80

Descriptive Statistics for Study Indices

*Note.* \* Indicates p < .05; I don't know\*\* indicates p < .01. *M* and *SD* are used to denote mean and standard deviation.

## **Statistical Model Assumptions**

Prior to moving forward with the multiple linear regression, it was necessary to ensure that all assumptions of the analysis were properly met. I conducted tests to determine if the assumptions of a linear regression were met, including outliers, collinearity, independent errors, normality, homoscedasticity, and linearity. The sample size was deemed to be a total of 89 given the number of independent variables. To proceed with the linear regression the model must have one dependent variable that is continuous and at least one independent variable that is continuous, each of these assumptions are met within the regression model. An analysis of standard residuals was carried out, which indicated that the data contained no outliers (*Std. Residuals Min* = - 3.04, *Std. Residuals Max* = 1.93), as depicted in Table 3.

# Table 3

	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν
Predicted Value	99.13	144.67	124.98	9.38	90
Residual	-43.69	27.87	.000	13.54	90
Std. Predicted	-2.76	2.10	.000	1.00	90
Value					
Std. Residual	-3.04	1.93	.000	.94	90

**Residuals Statistics** 

*Note.* <sup>a</sup> Dependent Variable: Emotional Intelligence

Tests to see if the data met the assumption of collinearity indicated the multicollinearity was not a concern. Table 4 depicts the variable coefficients including collinearity statistics. If the VIF value is greater than 10, or the Tolerance level is less than 0.1 it would suggest concerns with collinearity.

# Table 4

|--|

Independent Variables	Tolerance	VIF
Extraversion	.90	1.11
Agreeableness	.88	1.14
Conscientiousness	.85	1.18
Neuroticism	.91	1.10
Openness	.96	1.05
Self-Management to Time	.51	1.97
Organization/Problem-Solving	.49	2.04
Self-Restraint	.33	3.01
Motivation	.43	2.33
Emotional Regulation	.33	3.08

Next, a Durbin-Watson test was conducted to assess for independence of residuals. Durbin-Watson values should be between 0 and 4, with a value as close to 2 to meet the assumption. The data met the assumption of independence of residuals (*Durbin-Watson value* = 2.07). To assess the linearity a scatterplot of the different personality factors and executive functions against EI with superimposed regression line was plotted. Visual inspection of these two plots indicated a linear relationship between the dependent variable of EI and independent variables. Figure 1 depicts the scatterplot showing the relationship between the dependent and independent variables. Partial regression plots were completed to indicate the relationship between EI and each independent variable.

Figure 2 through Figure 11 depicts the scatterplots for each of these variables, indicating a linear relationship with each.

# Figure 1

Scatterplot of Linearity of Dependent and Independent Variables



Scatter Plot of Studentized Residual by Unstandardized Predicted Value






Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable Agreeableness



Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable of Conscientiousness





Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable of Neuroticism



## Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable of Openness





Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable of Self-Management to Time



Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable of Organization/Problem-Solving



## Figure 9

Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable of Self-Restraint







## Figure 11

Scatterplot of Linearity for Independent Variable of Motivation



There was homoscedasticity, as assessed by visual inspection of a plot of studentized residuals versus unstandardized predicted values, shown in Figure 1. Normality of residuals was identified through visual inspection of a histogram with superimposed normal curve and a P-Plot, shown in Figure 12. Residuals were normally distributed as assessed by visual inspection of a normal probability plot.

Normality of Residuals Histogram and P-Plot





Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual



### **Regression Model Results**

A multiple linear regression was run to understand the relationship between personality factors and executive function with EI. Emotional regulation, openness, extraversion, conscientiousness, neuroticism, agreeableness, self-management to time, organization/problem-solving, motivation, and self-restraint account for 32.4 % of the variance in Emotional Intelligence with adjusted  $R^2$ =23.9% (Table 5), a medium effect size according to Cohen (1988). The model as a whole was able to significantly predict EI, (10, 79) = 3.792,  $R^2$  = .324, as depicted in Table 5.

## Table 5

Model Summary

			Adjusted R	Std. Error of	Durbin-
Model	R	R Square	Square	the Estimate	Watson
	.569 <sup>a</sup>	.324	.239	14.37100	2.068

Note. <sup>a</sup> Predictors: (Constant), Emotional Regulation, Openness,

Extraversion, Conscientiousness, Neuroticism, Agreeableness, Self-

Management to Time, Organization/Problem-Solving, Motivation, Self-

Restraint.

<sup>b</sup> Dependent Variable: Emotional Intelligence.

### Table 6

ANOVA

	Sum of				
Model	Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Regression	7830.441	10	783.044	3.792	.000 <sup>b</sup>
Residual	16315.514	79	206.525		
Total	24145.956	89			

*Note*. <sup>a</sup> Dependent Variable: Emotional Intelligence

<sup>b</sup> Predictors: (Constant), Emotional Regulation, Openness, Extraversion,

Conscientiousness, Neuroticism, Agreeableness, Self-Management to Time,

Organization/Problem-Solving, Motivation, Self-Restraint.

In the final model, three predictors were significant with self-management to time providing the highest contribution (t = -3.047 B = -.433), org/problem (t = -2.645 B = -.349), and motivation (t = 3.069 B = .433) provided a significant contribution. The regression equation is as follows: Y (EI) = 136.203 + .033(extraversion score) + 1.857 (agreeableness score) + 1.224(conscientiousness score) + .381(neuroticism score) + 1.094(openness score) + .674(self-management to time score) + ..460(organization/problem-solving score) + .316(self-restraint score) + 1.215(motivation score) + .515(emotional regulation score). Findings from the regression are shown on Table 7. Using the regression equation and value of EI provided outcomes for mean predicted value. The predicted mean EI for the variables that were found to be

statistically significant in this regression (self-management to time,

organization/problem-solving, and motivation) are displayed in the "contrast estimates"

row of Table 8. Predictions were made to determine the mean EI for a 40-year-old with high self-management to time, high organization/problem-solving, and high motivation. Mean EI was predicted as 140.37 (95% CI, 133.68 to 147.06).

# Table 7

Variables	В	SE B	β	t	р
Extraversion	.033	1.331	.002	.025	.980
Agreeableness	1.857	1.043	.176	1.781	.079
Conscientiousness	1.224	1.368	.090	.895	.374
Neuroticism	381	1.213	030	314	.754
Openness	-1.094	1.193	087	916	.362
Self-Management	674	.198	443	-3.407	.001
Organ/Problem-Sol	460	.174	349	-2.645	.010
Self-Restraint	.316	.296	.171	1.068	.289
Motivation	1.215	.396	.433	3.069	.003
Emotional Regulation	n515	.289	290	-1.785	.078

## Summary of Regression Analysis

### Table 8

		Emotional
Contrast		Intelligence
L1 Contrast Estimate		140.368
Hypothesized Value		0
Difference (Estimate - Hypothesize	140.368	
Std. Error		3.367
Sig.		.000
95% Confidence Interval	Lower Bound	133.675
	Upper Bound	147.060

Prediction of EI (K Matrix)

Note. <sup>a</sup> Based on the user-specified contrast coefficients (L') matrix number 1.

### Summary

The chapter consisted of an explanation of data collection and analysis. I took you through the steps needed to run the regression model, including the assumptions and how they were met. The findings from the analysis indicated the model was significant for predicting EI, with three specific variables showing a significant relationship with this prediction. In the final chapter, I will further examine the findings, specifically within the context of other theoretical findings. Results from this study will indicate recommendations for future research in line with the limitations from this current study. Chapter 5: Discussions, Conclusions, and Recommendations

### Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative study was to determine if there is a relationship between personality traits, executive functions, and EI. The study's purpose was to use predictive correlation to investigate if there is a relationship between the variables. This study was a continuation of past studies looking for predictive variables of EI. Although much of the previous studies looked primarily at the relationship of personality and emotional regulation (Hughes, et al. ; Petrides et al.), this study included an investigation into the relationship of all executive functions which include emotional regulation. Using a multiple regression analysis, I was able to study the predictive value of these variable with EI.

The results from the study allowed for a rejection of the null hypothesis because the model of the regression was significant. However, not all the variables were a significant contributor to the prediction of EI. Results suggest that executive functions of self-management to time, organization/problem-solving, and motivation have a significant predictive value for EI. These findings suggest new understanding within the literature regarding the construct of EI. In this chapter, I will provide a deeper interpretation of the findings in relation to previous studies discussed in Chapter 2. I will also go through the limitations, recommendations, and implications for social change which emerged from this study.

#### **Interpretation of the Findings**

Drawing from previous research investigating aspects of EI, Chapter 2 provided a review of important findings with respect to this study. Findings from this study further confirm previous findings; however, they also extend knowledge within the construct of EI. Previous research focused on the relationship between EI and personality factors. Research has also predominantly studied personality-driven differences in how people regulate (i.e., regulation strategies) with less known about personality-driven differences in why people regulate (Gross & Cassidy, 2019; Pruessner et al., 2020). What research there is (e.g., Eldesouky & English, 2018) suggests that further work will prove fruitful in helping to explain individual differences in emotion regulation. Yet, little of this previous research has focused on the role of EF, which is a primary component of emotional regulation.

This current study did not reveal a specific correlation between personality factors as predictors of EI. However, the overall model was significant for predicting higher EI in individuals between the ages of 25 - 65 ( $R^2 = .324$ ). Unlike much of the research that has been conducted regarding EI and personality factors, this study did not reveal any significant correlations between EI and the FFM of personality factors. The previous studies conducted were attempts to understand whether trait EI – a perspective on EI pioneered by Petrides and colleagues (Pertrides & Furnham, 2001) – is linked with the FFM of personality or a construct of its own (Hughes et al., 2018). Much of the research found a significant correlation between personality factors and emotional constructs (Carver & Connor-Smith, 2010; Petrides, 2010; Schindler & Querengässer, 2019). Yet there remains continued disagreement on what extent trait EI falls within an existing personality model, or whether it captures a new factor of personality (Hughes et al., 2018). Results from my study suggest it may be reasonable to continue to pursue an understanding of whether EI captures a new factor of personality, as the findings suggest personality factors may not be an adequate predictor of EI. Interestingly, however, this study did reveal a correlation between factors of EF, but not emotional regulation specifically.

Findings from this study suggest that EF may have a stronger correlation with the prediction of higher EI than personality factors alone. While the overall regression model successfully predicted a 32.4% variance in EI, the specific variables which were found to be significantly correlated were related to EF. Research has predominantly examined personality concerning a limited range of emotional regulation strategies (e.g., avoidance, reappraisal, suppression) and completely neglected relations between personality and implementation tactics. Findings from this study suggest executive functions of self-management (B = -.674, *p* = .001), motivation (B = 1.215, *p* = .003), and organization/problem-solving (B = -.460, *p* = .010) have the largest contribution to EI.

Different behavioral patterns emerge in the cognitive processes that allow mental flexibility when adapting to different emotional contexts. The use of emotional regulation in cognitive processes has been associated with other EFs of inhibition, working memory, and shifting (Pruessner et al., 2020). Further, the relationship between this different EF (working memory, inhibition, shifting, and emotional regulation) has shown that working memory has an association with negative affect reduction and aspects of emotional behavior and regulation (Hendricks & Buchanan, 2016). Results from my study suggest similar findings in that components of EF promote EI. When looking at emotional regulation, while it did not show a significant relationship (p = .078), it was among one of the variables with a stronger correlation than others.

#### Implications

This research study further contributes to the growing body of knowledge regarding EI and the implications EI has within different domains of social issues. While the findings from this study do not support a correlation between personality factors and EI, it does support the increasing question within the literature of whether EI may be better understood as another level of personality itself. Further, the findings add to the understanding of how emotional regulation may impact EI, in that we can now correlate other components of executive function with increased EI. Based on the findings from this study, the strongest predictors of EI were a person's ability to self-manage their time, organize themselves, problem-solve, and motivate themselves. This provides unique information for those in the field to better understand how EF may interact with emotional regulation and increase EI.

Further, previous research has shown the efficacy of EI within physical and psychological health (Fernandez-Abascal & Martın-Dıaz, 2015), psychopathology (Davis & Humphrey, 2012; Mikolajczak et al., 2009), academic performance (Di Fabio & Saklofsmotike, 2018), and prosocial and antisocial behaviors (Gugliandolo et al., 2015; Petrides et al., 2006). Findings may lend to interventions aimed to support individuals who struggle with maladaptive coping skills. This information may help guide mental health practitioners and others in supporting individuals to enhance their EF which may in turn increase EI. Moreover, these findings contribute to the understanding of EI through the lens of ability EI. Meaning, early studies of EI focused on this construct as a component of cognitive functioning. These findings suggest that cognitive functions, do indeed, have a strong correlation with the level of EI.

#### **Limitations of the Study**

There are several limitations to this research study. Although there is an assumption that participants will provide an accurate and truthful portrayal of themselves when completing the self-report surveys, it cannot be guaranteed. Self-report bias is a limitation to the study based on the nature of the survey questions. Further, this study was limited by the convenience sampling strategy selected. Self-selection bias is present in this study as the participants volunteered for this study, and there is no way to ensure the sample represents the general public. Therefore, findings from this study may not be broadly generalizable. Further, the limitation inherent within correlational studies leads to the inability to assume causation. This study does not indicate whether personality traits or executive functions cause changes in EI development.

#### Recommendations

While the findings from this study provide new insights into the predictors of EI, it is important to take limitations of this study into consideration. Future studies should look to replicate these findings within a larger population to support generalizability. However, future studies should continue to view EI through the lens of executive functions by expanding the research to include larger sample sizes to gain more insights into the correlations between EI and EF. Larger participant pools may show differences in correlations that may provide findings similar to previous studies where personality traits were shown to have strong correlations with EI. Future studies may want to look at the relationship between personality traits and executive functions to look at the potential relationship between these factors. Looking at relationships between personality traits and executive functions could help answer the question of whether EI is better defined as another layer of personality.

Future studies may also consider examining the relationship of these factors in younger children. These studies could also provide insights into the interactions of executive functions within the development of EI. If studies within children provide similar results, it would suggest that working to create interventions aimed at executive function training may be more beneficial than the creation of intervention focused solely on EI.

#### Social Change

Social change stems through the identification of needed areas of change in social institutions, social behaviors, and social relationships. Based on previous findings, EI is known to have strong implications within different realms of society. The hope with this study is to increase the understanding of ways to increase EI in people. The construct of EI may help people to increase social relations, increase academic performance, and perhaps decrease antisocial behaviors. The findings from this study not only increase our understanding of what may contribute to increased EI, but it also increases our understanding of the possible reasons why. EF is known to be an essential aspect of

cognitive functioning and when these functions increase a person's overall functioning seemingly increases. Enhancing executive functions in individuals will in turn increase cognitive functioning and decrease emotional reactivity and stress. Perhaps when people have an overall sense of well-being, they are better able to increase their emotional awareness and subsequently their level of EI.

### Conclusion

EI, since its emergence in the literature, has shown to have important implications in society. The results of this study presented similar findings to previous research, while enhancing the understanding with the literature as to the predictors of EI. Specifically, the findings indicate that the construct of EI seems better defined through the lens of cognitive functioning, as executive functions were the strongest correlation in this study. While personality factors seemingly have a relationship with EI based on past research, the current finding lend to the ongoing question of whether EI could be included within the personality hierarchy. Future studies should continue to identify relationships between these variables to gain more understanding of how EI develops in individuals. The current study opens the door to extend the research of cognitive and personality factors within EI.

#### References

Alegre, A., Pérez-Escoda, N., & López-Cassá, E. (2019). The relationship between trait emotional intelligence and personality: Is trait EI really anchored within the big five, big two and big one frameworks? *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, Article 866. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00866</u>

Allport, G.W. (1937). Personality: A psychological interpretation. Holt.

- Andreotti, C., Thigpen, J.E., Dunn, M.J., Watson, K.H., Potts, J., Reising, M.M., Robinson, K.E., Rodriguez, E.M., Roubinov, D.M., Luecken, L., & Compas, B.E. (2013). Cognitive reappraisal and secondary control coping: Associations with working memory, positive and negative affect, and symptoms of anxiety/depression. *Anxiety, Stress, and Coping, 26*, 20 – 35. https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2011.631526
- Bandura A. (1985). Model of causality in social learning theory. In: Mahoney M.J., Freeman A. (eds) Cognition and psychotherapy (pp. 81-90). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4684-7562-3\_3</u>
- Bandura, A. (2000). Social-cognitive theory. In *Encyclopedia of psychology*, 7, (pp. 329–332). American Psychological Association. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/10522-140</u>
- Barkley, R. A. (2012). *Executive functions: What they are, how they work, and why they evolved*. <u>https://ebookcentral.proquest.com</u>
- Barkley, Russell A. (2011). The nature of executive function (EF) deficits in daily life activities in adults with ADHD and their relationship to performance on EF tests.

Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 33(2), 137 – 158. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-011-9217-x

- Bar-On, R. (1997). The Emotional Quotient inventory (EQ-i): A test of emotional intelligence. Multi-Health Systems.
- Binet, A. (1905). New methods for the diagnosis of the intellectual level of subnormal's. http://psychclassics.yorku.ca/Binet/binetl.htm
- Bulmer, M. G. (2003). Francis Galton: Pioneer of Heredity and Biometry. Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Cacioppo, J. T., & Gardner, W. L. (1999). Emotion. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 50, 191–214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.50.1.191</u>
- Carstensen, L. L., & Mikels, J. A. (2005). At the intersection of emotion and cognition: Aging and the positivity effect. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 14(3), 117–121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0963-7214.2005.00348.x</u>
- Carver, C. S., & Connor-Smith, J. (2010). Personality and coping. Annual Review of Psychology, 61, 679-704. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.093008.100352</u>
- Cattell, R. B. (1963). Theory of fluid and crystallized intelligence: A critical experiment. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 54, 1-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0046743</u>

Cattell, R.B. (1973). Personality and mood by questionnaire. Jossey Bass. Cattell, R.B.

- (1978). The scientific use of factor analysis in behavioral and life sciences. Plenum. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4684-2262-7</u>
- Cattell, R.B. (1980). Personality and learning theory (Vol. 2): A systems theory of maturation and learning. Springer.

- Cattell, R.B. (1995). The fallacy of five factors in the personality sphere. *The Psychologist*, *8*(5): 207–8.
- Cattell, R.B., & Kline, P. (1977). The scientific analysis of personality and motivation. Academic.
- Chung, H., Weyandt, L., & Swentosky, A. (2014). The physiology of executive functioning. In S. Goldstein & J.A. Naglieri (*Eds.*), *Handbook of executive functioning* (p. 13 – 28). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-8106-5\_2</u>
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Dunbar, J. P., Watson, K. H., Bettis, A. H., Gruhn, M. A., & Williams, E. K. (2014). Coping and emotion regulation from childhood to early adulthood: Points of convergence and divergence. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 66(2), 71–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ajpy.12043</u>
- Costa, S., Barberis, N., Gugliandolo, M. C., Larcan, R., & Cuzzocrea, F. (2018). The intergenerational transmission of trait emotional intelligence: The mediating role of parental autonomy support and psychological control. *Journal of Adolescence,* 68, 105–116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2018.07.008</u>
- Costa, P. T. & McCrae, R. R. (1992). *Manual for the Revised NEO Personality Inventory* (*NEO-PI-R*) and the NEO Five-Factor Inventory (*NEO-PI*). Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Davis, S. K. & Humphrey, N. (2012). Emotional intelligence predicts adolescent mental health beyond personality and cognitive ability. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 52, 144–149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2011.09.016</u>

Denckla, M. B. (1996). A theory and model of executive function: a neuropsychological

perspective. In G.R. Lyon & NA. Krasnegor (Eds.), *Attention, memory, and executive function* (pp. 263 – 278). Brookes.

- Di Fabio, A., & Saklofsmotike, D. H. (2018). The contributions of personality and emotional intelligence to resiliency. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 123, 140–144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2017.11.012</u>
- Downey, J. (1923). The Will-Temperament and its testing. World Book.
- Dyrud, J. E., & Donnelly, C. (1969). Executive functions of the ego: Clinical and procedural relevance. Archives of General Psychiatry, 20(3), 257 – 261. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1969.01740150001001</u>
- Eldesouky, L., & English, T. (2018). Another year older, another year wiser? Emotion regulation strategy selection and flexibility across adulthood. *Psychology and aging*, 33(4), 572–585. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/pag0000251</u>
- Estévez, E., Jiménez, T. I., & Segura, L. (2019). Emotional intelligence and empathy in aggressors and victims of school violence. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *111*(3), 488–496. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000292</u>
- Eysenck, H. J. (1947). Dimensions of Personality. New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc.
- Eysenck, H.J. (1957). The Dynamics of Anxiety and Hysteria. Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- Eysenck, H.J. (1967). The Biological Basis of Personality. Thomas.
- Fernandez-Abascal, E. G. & Martin-Diaz, M. D. (2015). Dimensions of emotional intelligence related to physical and mental health and to health behaviors. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6, 317. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00317</u>

- Ford, B. Q., & Tamir, M. (2014). Preferring familiar emotions: as you want (and like) it?. Cognition & emotion, 28(2), 311–324. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2013</u>
- Furnham, A. (2009). The validity of a new, self-report measure of multiple intelligence. *Current Psychology*, 28(4), 225–239. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-</u> 009-9064-z
- Galton, F. (1865). *Hereditary talent and character*. Retrieved from <a href="http://psychclassics.yorku.ca/Galton/talent.htm">http://psychclassics.yorku.ca/Galton/talent.htm</a>
- Gardner, H. (1997). "Who owns 'intelligence?" Invited talk, in G. Sinatra (Chair) and C.
  Bereiter (Discussant), *Expanding our concept of intelligence: What's missing and what could we gain?* Symposium at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Chicago, IL.
- Gardner, K. J., Qualter, P. & Whiteley, H. (2011). Developmental correlates of emotional intelligence: Temperament, family environment and childhood trauma. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 63, 75—82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-</u>9536.2011.00010.x
- Goldberg, E., Bilder, R. M., Hughes, J. E., & Antin, S. P. (1989). A reticulo-frontal disconnection syndrome. *Cortex: A Journal Devoted to the Study of the Nervous System and Behavior, 25*(4), 687 – 695. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0010-</u> 9452(89)80029-2
- Gottfredson, L., & Saklofske, D. H. (2009). Intelligence: Foundations and issues in assessment. *Canadian Psychology*, 50(3), 183–195. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016641

Grafman, J. (1988). Interesting data in search of a theory. *PsycCRITIQUES*, 33(11), 956 – 957. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/026206</u>

Gross, J. J. (1998). The emerging field of emotion regulation: an integrative review. Rev.

General Psychology, 2, 271–299. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.2.3.271

- Gross, J. J. (2015). Emotion regulation: current status and future prospects. *Psychological Inquiry*, 26, 1–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1047840X.2014.940781</u>
- Gross, J. T., & Cassidy, J. (2019). Expressive suppression of negative emotions in children and adolescents: Theory, data, and a guide for future research. *Developmental psychology*, 55(9), 1938–1950.
  https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000722

Gugliandolo, M. C., Costa, S., Cuzzocrea, F., Larcan, R. & Petrides, K. V. (2015). Trait emotional intelligence and behavioral problems among adolescents: A cross–informant design. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 74, 16–21.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2014.09.032

- Harlow, J. M. (1848). Passage of an iron rod through the head. *Boston Medical and Surgical Journal*, 39, 389 – 393.
- Harlow, J. M. (1868). Recovery from the passage of an iron rod through the head. Publications of the Massachusetts Medical Society, 2, 237 – 346.

Hendricks, M. A., & Buchanan, T. W. (2016). Individual differences in cognitive control processes and their relationship to emotion regulation. *Cognition & emotion*, 30(5), 912–924. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2015.1032893</u>

Howard, R. (2009). Alfred Binet: A truly applied psychologist. The psychologist, 22,

278-279.

- Hughes, D. J., & Batey, M. (2017). "Using personality questionnaires for selection," in The Wiley Blackwell Handbook of the Psychology of Recruitment, Selection & Retention, eds H. Goldstein, E. Pulakos, J. Passmore, and C. Semedo (Chichester: Wiley Blackwell), 151–181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118972472.ch8</u>
- Hughes, D. & Evans, T.R. (2018). Putting 'Emotional Intelligences' in the place: Introducing the integrated model of affect-related individual differences. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9: 2155. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02155</u>
- Jang, K.L., Livesley, W.J. and Vemon, P.A. (1996), Heritability of the Big Five
  Personality Dimensions and Their Facets: A Twin Study. *Journal of Personality*,
  64: 577-592. <u>http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.1996.tb00522.x</u>
- Kanesan, P., & Fauzan, N. (2019). Models of Emotional Intelligence: A Review. E-BANGI Journal, 16(7), 1–9. <u>https://search-ebscohost-</u> com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=139003629&si te=eds-live&scope=site
- Kihlstrom, J. F., & Cantor, N. (2011). Social intelligence. In R. J. Sternberg & S. B.
  Kaufman (Eds.), *The Cambridge handbook of intelligence*. (pp. 564–581).
  Cambridge University Press. <u>http://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511977244.029</u>

Krajniak, M. I., Pievsky, M., Eisen, A. R., & McGrath, R. E. (2018). The relationship between personality disorder traits, emotional intelligence, and college adjustment. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 74(7), 1160–1173. <u>https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1002/jclp.22572</u>

- Matthews, G. & Gilliland, K. (1999.) The personality theories of H.J. Eysenck and JA.
  Gray: A comparative review. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 26(4), 583–626. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(98)00158-5</u>
- Mayer, J. D., & Salovey, P. (1997). What is emotional intelligence? In P. Salovey & D.Sluyter (Eds.). Emotional Development and Emotional Intelligence: Implications for Educators (pp. 3-31). Basic Books.
- Mayer, J. D., Salovey, P., & Caruso, D. R. (2008). Emotional intelligence: New ability or eclectic traits? *American Psychologist*, 63(6), 503–517. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.63.6.503
- Mayer, J. D., Salovey, P., Caruso, D. R., & Cherkasskiy, L. (2011). *Emotional intelligence*. In R. J. Sternberg & S. B. Kaufman (Eds.), The Cambridge handbook of intelligence (pp. 528-549). Cambridge University Press.
- McCrae, R. R., & Costa, P. T., Jr (1997). Personality trait structure as a human universal. *The American psychologist*, 52(5), 509–516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066x.52.5.509</u>
- Mikolajczak, M., Petrides, K. V. & Hurry, J. (2009). Adolescents choosing self-harm as an emotion regulation strategy: The protective role of trait emotional intelligence.
  British *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 48, 181—193.
  http://doi.org10.1348/014466508x386027
- Morice, R. (1986). Beyond language: Speculations on the prefrontal cortex and schizophrenia. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 20(1), 7 – 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/00048678609158859</u>

- Nicholson, I. (2003). Inventing personality: Gordon Allport and the science of selfhood. American Psychological Association. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/10514-</u> 000
- Nigg, J. T., & Casey, B. J. (2005). An integrative theory of attention-deficits/hyperactivity disorder based on the cognitive and affective neurosciences. *Development and Psychopathology*, 17, 765 806.
- Pérez-Fuentes, M. D. C., Molero Jurado, M. D. M., Barragán Martín, A. B., & Gázquez Linares, J. J. (2019). Family Functioning, Emotional Intelligence, and Values:
  Analysis of the Relationship with Aggressive Behavior in Adolescents. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(3).
  http://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16030478
- Pérez-González, J. C., & Sánchez-Ruiz, M. J. (2014). Trait emotional intelligence anchored within the big five, big two and big one frameworks. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 65, 53–58. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2014.01.021</u>
- Petrides, K. V., & Furnham, A. (2001). Trait emotional intelligence: Psychometric investigation with reference to established trait taxonomies. *European Journal of Personality*, 15, 425–448. <u>http://doi.org/10.1002/per.416</u>
- Petrides, K.V., Mikolajczak, M., Mavroveli, S., Sanchez-Ruiz, M.J., Furnham, A., & Perez-Gonzalez, J.C. (2016). Development in Trait Emotional Intelligence Research. *Emotion Review*, 8(4), 335—341. http://doi.org/10.1177/1754073916650493

Petrides, K.V., Sangareau, Y., Furnham, A., & Frederickson, N. (2006). Trait emotional

intelligence and children's peer relations at school. Social Development, 15,

537—547. <u>http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507.2006.00355.x</u>

- Pribram, K. H. (1973). The primate frontal cortex executive of the brain. In K. H.
  Pribram & A. R. Luria (Eds.), *Psychophysiology of the frontal lobes* (pp. 293 314). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-564340-5.50019-6</u>
- Pribram, K. H. (1976). Executive functions of the frontal lobes. In T. Desiraju (Ed.),
   *Mechanisms in transmission of signals for conscious behavior* (pp. 303 320).
   Elsevier.
- Pruessner, L., Barnow, S., Holt, D. V., Joormann, J., & Schulze, K. (2020). A cognitive control framework for understanding emotion regulation flexibility. *Emotion* (*Washington, DC*), 20(1), 21–29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000658</u>
- Rammstedt, B., & John, O. P. (2007). Big Five Inventory-10. *PsycTESTS*. http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1037/t01744-000
- Roseman, I. J., & Evdokas, A. (2004). Appraisals cause experienced emotions: Experimental evidence. *Cognition & Emotion*, *18*(1), 1–28.
- Salovey, P., & Mayer, J. D. (1990). Emotional intelligence. *Imagination, Cognition, and Personality, 9*(3), 185–211. <u>http://doi.org/10.2190/dugg-p24e-52wk-6cdg</u>
- Sandson, J. & Albert, M. L. (1984). Varieties of perseveration. *Neuropsychologia*, 22(6), 715 – 732. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0028-3932(84)90098-8</u>

Schindler, S., & Querengässer, J. (2019). Coping with sadness: How personality and

emotion regulation strategies differentially predict the experience of induced emotions. *Personality and Individual Differences, 136*, 90-95. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2018.01.050</u>

- Schmitt, D., Allik, J., McCrae, R., & Benet-Martinez, V. (2007). The geographic distribution of big five personality traits: Patterns and profiles of human selfdescription across 56 nations. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 38(2), 173 – 212. http://doi.org/10.1122/0022022106297299
- Schutte, Nicola S., Malouff, John M., Hall, Lena E., Haggerty, Donald J., Cooper, Joan T., Golden, Charles J., & Dornheim, Liane. (1998). Development and validation of a measure of emotional intelligence. *Personality and Individual Differences, 25*(2), 167-177. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(98)00001-4</u>
- Schweizer, S., Gotlib, I. H., & Blakemore, S. J. (2020). The role of affective control in emotion regulation during adolescence. *Emotion*, 20(1), 80–86.

https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000695

- Siemer, M., Mauss, I., & Gross, J. J. (2007). Same situation—Different emotions: How appraisals shape our emotions. *Emotion*, 7(3), 592–600.
- Sordia, N., Martskvishvili, K., & Neubauer, A. (2019). From creative potential to creative achievements: Do emotional traits foster creativity? *Swiss Journal of Psychology*, 78(3–4), 115–123. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1024/1421-</u>0185/a000227
- Spearman, C. (1904). "General intelligence," objectively determined and measured. *American Journal of Psychology, 15*, 201-293. <u>http://psychclassics.yorku.ca</u>

- Srivastava K. (2013). Emotional intelligence and organizational effectiveness. *Industrial Psychiatry Journal*, 22(2), 97–99. <u>http://doi.org/10.4103/0972-6748.132912</u>
- Stelmack, R.M. and Stalikas, A. (1991) 'Galen and the humour theory of temperament', Personality and Individual Differences, 12(3): 255–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(91)90111-N</u>
- Sternberg, R. J., & Sternberg K. (2012). Cognition and intelligence. In Cognitive psychology (6th ed., pp. 17–22). Wadsworth/Cengage Learning. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-375000-6.00207-X
- Stuss, D. T. & Benson, D. F. (1987). The frontal lobes and control of cognition and memory. In E. Perecman (Ed.), *The frontal lobes revisited* (pp. 141 – 158). IRBN Press.
- Suchy, Y. (2015). *Executive functioning: A comprehensive guide for clinical practice*. <u>https://ebookcentral.proquest.com</u>
- Terracciano, A., McCrae, R. R., Brant, L. J., & Costa, P. T., Jr (2005). Hierarchical linear modeling analyses of the NEO-PI-R scales in the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. *Psychology and aging*, 20(3), 493–506. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-</u> 7974.20.3.493
- Terman, L. M. (1921). II [Second contribution to "Intelligence and its measurement: A symposium"]. Journal of Educational Psychology, 12, 127–133.
- Thorndike, E. L. (1920). Intelligence and its uses. Harper's Magazine, 140, 227-235.
- Thurstone, L. L. (1938). *Primary mental abilities*. University of Chicago Press.

- Urquijo, I., Extremera, N., & Azanza, G. (2019). The Contribution of Emotional Intelligence to Career Success: Beyond Personality Traits. *International Journal* of Environmental Research and Public Health, 16(23). <u>https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.3390/ijerph16234809</u>
- Wade, M., Prime, H., Jenkins, J. M., Yeates, K. O., Williams, T., & Lee, K. (2018). On the relation between theory of mind and executive functioning: A developmental cognitive neuroscience perspective. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review, 25*(6), 2119-2140. http://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-018-1459-0
- Wechsler, D. (1940). Nonintellective factors in general intelligence. *Psychological Bulletin, 37*, 444–445.
- Welsh, M. C. & Pennington, B. F. (1988). Assessing frontal lobe functioning in children: Views from developmental psychology. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 4(3), 199 – 230.
- Varon, E. J. (1936). Alfred Binet's concept of intelligence. *Psychological Review*, 43(1), 32–58. <u>http://doi.org/10.1037/h0060709</u>
- Van der Linden, D., Schermer, J. A., de Zeeuw, E., Dunkel, C. S., Pekaar, K. A., Bakker,
  A. B., Vernon, P. A., & Petrides, K. V. (2018). Overlap between the General
  Factor of Personality and trait emotional intelligence: A genetic correlation study. *Behavior Genetics*, 48(2), 147–154. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10519-017-9885-8-